

BUSINESS SUSTAINABILITY PLAN

Saving Lives and Advancing Healthcare with an Emphasis on Sustainability

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority

\$125 million in Capital Improvement Projects



Contents

Executive Summary	1
Background	2
Hospital Background and Ownership	2
History of GMH	2
GMH Historical Capital Improvements	3
Facility Description	4
Medical Staff	5
Credentialing	5
Staffing Level	6
Overhead and Administrative Expenses	8
Existing Services at GMH	9
Health Services for Inmates & Detainees	11
Challenges for GMH	12
Challenging Payer Mix and Reimbursement Rates	12
Outdated Costing Data for Medicare Reimbursements	14
Low Ratio of Outpatient to Inpatient Revenues	15
Guam Health Care & Social Assistance Sector	18
Island-wide Hospital Bed Capacity	18
Island-wide Payer System	20
Government Programs	20
Health Maintenance Organizations	21
The Project	22
Description and Costs	22
Funding	22
Estimated Timetable of Activities	23
New Z-wing Facility and Expanded Services	23
Other Key Capital Improvement Projects for Funding	26
Emphasis: Hospital-based Outpatient Care Model	28
Financial Projections	30
Revenue Enhancements	30
Expanded Radiology	30
Cardiology	33

Creation of an Observation Unit & Impact on 3M Revenues	
Oncology Services	
Other New Services	
Leasing of Skilled Nursing Unit Facility (SNU)	
Information Technology Modernization	
Cost Reduction Initiatives	
Pro Forma Statements	40
Conclusion	45
Appendix A. Patient Statistics	
Appendix B. GMH Physicians Contracted	
Appendix C. Provider Credentialing Breakdown	
Appendix D. Breakdown of Furnishing, Fixtures, & Equipment	
Appendix E. Pro Forma Assumptions	
Appendix F. Return on Investment Analysis	53
Appendix G. Enhanced Service Centers Schedule of Revenues	54
Appendix H. Historical Balance Sheets	55
Appendix I. Historical Income Statements	56
Appendix J. Historical Schedule of Revenues by Classification	57
Appendix K. Historical Schedule of Contractual Adjustments	
Appendix L. HMAT Initiatives	59
Appendix M. Board of Trustees	61
Appendix N. Senior Management	62
Appendix O. Organizational Structure	
Appendix P. GMH Expansion Plan Concept	

Executive Summary

The mission of the Guam Memorial Hospital (GMH) is to provide quality patient care in a safe environment. To support its mission in continuing to provide acute, outpatient, long term, urgent care and emergency care services to the people of Guam, GMH seeks to undertake capital improvement to maintain high standards in the quality of care and expand services.

Because of challenging circumstances facing GMH finances, hospital administrations have only been able to spend \$46.6 million in capital improvements since 1991.

While these investments have improved emergency services and hardened its structure, GMH seeks to greatly enhance and improve its ability to accomplish its mission and improve its financial health through expansion and modernization.

A \$125 million investment will help the GMH Administration address its existing capital improvement needs and promote operational efficiencies to facilitate additional revenue generation and:

- Expand services to create Enhanced Service Centers to emphasize hospital-based outpatient services in cardiology, radiology, interventional radiology, oncology and other services; and
- Modernize the current facility, create an adequate outpatient facility, upgrade the current technology systems, construct a parking facility, and upgrade the electrical distribution and roof systems.

The aged facilities at GMH have posed a challenge in addressing the demands of the community. While technology and methods of diagnosis and treatment continue to advance, so too does the standard of care. For patients at GMH, the consequence of an outdated hospital environment and equipment is very real.

Consider the fact that the successful treatment for a stroke patient requires proper detection with radiological equipment within hours of its occurrence. GMH's aging CT scanners may be able to detect the stroke within six hours, whereas magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) equipment which GMH does not possess can detect a stroke in two hours. Consider the fact that up to 80% of diagnostic decisions are informed by lab test results, upgrading GMH lab's information systems would go a long way in reducing the time it takes to determine the most appropriate treatment course for the patient.

GMH management's ability to plan and adequately staff and equip the hospital has been restricted by annual funding allocations which generally have not met GMH budget requests. A dedicated funding source to GMH from a Business Privilege Tax (BPT) increase will enable management to compile multiyear strategic planning goals and targets supported by confirmed funds.

Improving patient care at GMH by making necessary capital investments and being able to rely on a steady and predictable source of operating funding is not only a financial consideration, but a necessity if GMH is to fulfill its mission to provide quality care in a safe environment.

Background

Hospital Background and Ownership

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority (GMHA) is an autonomous agency of the Government of Guam. GMHA owns and operates the GMH. The hospital provides acute, outpatient, long term, urgent care and emergency care services to all patients who seek medical attention at the hospital. The hospital has 161 licensed acute care beds and 40 beds at its long-term care Skilled Nursing Unit (SNU). GMH was accredited in 2010 by the Joint Commission (JC), an independent body accrediting healthcare providers in the United States and in 2016 completed its tri-annual survey conducted by the Joint Commission Surveyors, maintaining the Joint Commissions, Gold Seal of Approval accreditation.

History of GMH

Guam Memorial Hospital was constructed at Oka Point in 1956, representing a major change in the history of the local government's role in the delivery of medical care to the community. For many years, the U.S. government provided free hospital and health care services to the people of Guam.

The U.S. Naval forces assumed responsibility for the island's medical needs at the turn of the 20th century when the United States took formal possession of Guam. These services continued with the U.S. Navy's delivery of care after World War II, and culminated with its donation of the GMH facility to the Government of Guam's Department of Public Health and Welfare. This 230-bed hospital offered acute, psychiatric and long-term care services.

In 1964, the Guam Memorial Hospital was established as a line agency of the Government of Guam's executive branch. This creation separated the administration of hospital services from community health services provided by the Department of Public Health and Welfare. Thirteen years later in 1977, the Guam Memorial Hospital Authority was created as a public corporation, and has since been operating as a governmental, nonprofit institution serving the people of Guam under the governance of a nine-member Board of Trustees.

In 1974, the local and federal government's plan to replace the rapidly deteriorating Guam Memorial Hospital facility began to take root. The U.S. Department of the Interior purchased and transferred the nearby Medical Center of the Marianas to the Government of Guam, to serve as the new Guam Memorial Hospital. The Medical Center of the Marianas facility was initially constructed by the Catholic Diocese to serve as a private maternal-child health facility. Financial difficulties, however, prompted the Diocese to consider the sale of the facility to meet the government's need to replace its aged facility at Oka Point. Along with the funds for the initial purchase of this facility, federal funds also were provided for the expansion of the facility to allow for the consolidation of all services on a single campus.

Relocated to the new facility by 1978 were all the acute care hospital services and the Skilled Nursing Unit in 1987. In 1996, GMHA completed construction of its Skilled Nursing Facility in Barrigada Heights, with a capacity of 60 long-term care beds.

In 2010 Guam Memorial Hospital received accreditation by The Joint Commission, a nonprofit organization that accredits hospitals worldwide, and it has been accredited since. GMH had lost its accreditation in the early 1980s due to numerous patient safety concerns. The accreditation does not include the off-site SNU, which as a long-term care program falls under separate guidelines.

GMH Historical Capital Improvements

Lack of funding has restricted capital improvement projects at GMH to \$46 million in the last 25 years –in its continuous effort to modernize the hospital facility which was built in the 1970s. A list of these projects is provided in **Table 1**.

Year Completed	Project	Amount (\$1,000's)
1991	Building Extension (Packages III, IV, & V: Laboratory, Administration Wing, Med Records, Outpatient Hemodialysis, etc.)	\$ 19,040
1992	Laboratory Renovation and Expansion Project	2,320
1995	Underground Water Storage Tanks (two 200,000 gallon tanks)	880
1999	Liquid Oxygen Wall Hardening Project	52
2002	Rear Courtyard, Solariums, Stairwell & Exterior Corridor Enclosure	4,800
2004	Emergency Generator Shelter Hardening Project	427
2005	Supplies Warehouse, Power Plant, Emergency Gensets Room Walkway Supertyphoon Pongsona Recovery Wall Hardening Mitigation Project	193
2005	3rd & 4th Flr. B-Wing Patient Rms. Supertyphoon Pongsona Recovery Wall Hardening Mitigation Project	780
2006 Cooling Towers Supertyphoon Recovery Wall Hardening/Louvers Mitigation Project		530
2006 Underground Power Line to GMH (a GPA Supertyphoon Pongsona Recovery Project)		564
2007	2nd Flr. Patient Rooms Supertyphoon Pongsona Recovery Wall	
2008	Main Lobby & Front Stairwell Enclosure Project	1,570
2010	Warehouse Expansion Project	946
2010	Fire Alarm System (FAS) Removal & Replacement Project	1,200
2013	2013 Emergency Department & CCU/ICU Expansion and Pharmacy Upgrade Project	
2014	IT System Conversion	2,700
2016	Vertical Transportation Elevator Modernization Project	425
2016		

As shown on Table 1, the last major project was in 2013 with the design and construction of a new emergency department and upgrades to the Critical Care Unit, Intensive Care Unit, and the pharmacy. The total cost of the project amounted to \$9.31 million.

In spite of these improvements, GMH's facilities are older compared to most hospitals. The median average age of plant for U.S. hospitals is 10.9 years, according to American Hospital Association.¹ GMH's average age of plant in FY 2015 was 16.5 years. Average age of plant indicates the financial age of the fixed assets of the hospital. The older the average age, the greater and more immediate need for capital resources.

¹ http://www.aha.org/research/reports/tw/chartbook/2016/chart4-10.pdf

Facility Description

Currently, GMH's main facility in Oka, Tamuning is 312,351 square feet (sf) and its long-term care Skilled Nursing Unit (SNU) located in Barrigada is 36,928 sf. The Hospital has 161 licensed acute care beds and 40 residential treatment beds at the SNU. Additionally, GMH maintains 97 non-acute care beds. The availability or utilization of acute care beds, for actual admissions, varies from time to time in accordance with the availability of fully trained and licensed staff.

Table 2 - Breakdown and Count of GMH Beds		
Bed Category	Unit	Count
	Surgical	33
	Pediatrics	22
	Pediatric ICU	3
	Medical Surgical	28
Licensed Acute	Medical Surgical Annex	15
Care Beds	Telemetry	20
	Progressive Care Unit	6
	ICU/CCU	14
	OB Ward	20
	Total	161
Skilled Nursing Unit Beds	Skilled Nursing Unit	40
	Inpatient Hemodialysis	9
	Emergency Medical Department	27
	Urgent Care Unit	5
Other Beds	Operating Room	10
	Labor and Delivery	14
	Nursery	32
	Total	97

A breakdown of beds by unit is shown on **Table 2**.

For the purpose of comparing to other hospitals, GMH's total bed count is 201 (161 licensed acute care beds and 40 SNU beds). Additional information occupancy and patient statistics is provided in **Appendix A.** These beds are typically what GMH reports to the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service for Medicare cost reporting purposes.

The main hospital facility is four stories high. The first floor is comprised of certain administrative and fiscal departments, dietary services, central sterile supply, admissions, medical records, and physical therapy. The second floor houses the maternity nursing unit, obstetrics, surgery, radiology, laboratory, urgent care and emergency room, the main area for critical and intensive care, and additional business offices. The third floor houses the telemetry nursing unit, medical surgical nursing unit, respiratory care, and the inpatient hemodialysis unit. The pediatric unit and the surgical ward are located on the fourth floor.

Medical Staff

GMH employs a total of 34 physicians, of which 21 are full-time, four are part-time, and nine are employed on a contractual basis with benefits. A breakdown of these positions by specialty is provided on **Table 3**.

Table 3 - Employed GMH Physicians by Position Title				
Title	Full- time	Part- time	Other	Total
Hospital Staff Physican - Radiologist	1			1
Hospital Staff Physician - Director of Cardiology			1	1
Hospital Staff Physician - EMS	2			2
Hospital Staff Physician - ER	3			3
Hospital Staff Physician - Hemo Medical Director			1	1
Hospital Staff Physician - Internal Med	1			1
Hospital Staff Physician - Ob/Gyn	2			2
Hospital Staff Physician - Pathologist		1		1
Hospital Staff Physician - Pediatrics	2			2
Hospital Staff Physician - Radiologist			2	2
Hospitalist - Cardiologist Heart Team			1	1
Hospitalist - General Surgery			1	1
Hospitalist - Internal Medicine	4		1	5
Hospitalist - Neonatologist		1		1
Hospitalist General Surgeon		1		1
Hospitalist-General Surgery			1	1
Internal Medicine	1			1
Physician - Director Urgent Care	1			1
Physician	1	1		2
Physician - Internal Medicine			1	1
Physician - Medical Director/SNU	1			1
Physician - Ob/Gyn	1			1
Physician - Pediatrics	1			1
Grand Total	21	4	9	34

GMH budgeted for and is actively recruiting for additional physician positions. In many cases, GMH has also engaged providers on a contractual basis without benefits. These include physicians in anesthesiology, cardiology, interventional radiology, urgent care, neurology, pulmonology, infectious disease, and intensive care. **Appendix B** provides a listing of contracts by specialty.

Credentialing

GMH grants privileges to 175 physicians and mid-level providers to practice at its facility. A breakdown of these doctors and others with their level of credentialing with GMH is provided in **Appendix C** GMH's medical staff by-laws include but are not limited to several categories:

• The Active Staff consists of physicians, and podiatrists who have been advanced from the Provisional Staff and who attend, admit or are directly involved in the "hands on" care of at least four patients per year at the Hospital.

- The Provisional Staff consists of physicians and podiatrists in the initial period of appointment who will be considered for advancement to the requested and/or appropriate staff category and who meet the qualifications specified for members of the appropriate Staff Category.
- Courtesy Staff are those who have been advanced from the Provisional Staff and who attend, admit or are involved in the treatment of at least four, but not more than 24 non-house patients per year in the Hospital.
- The Active Associate Staff are those who maintain active staff membership appointment in another hospital within the United States, and completed the membership requirements of GMH and attend, admit or are involved in the treatment of at least four patients per medical staff year at the hospital or as determined by the department.

Staffing Level

GMH's overall staffing level by division based on its FY 2016 financial audit is shown on Figure 1.



Figure 1 - Full-time Equivalents by Function in FY 2016

* Professional/Clinical support includes ancillary services such as lab, pharmacy, radiology, rehab, and respiratory care. ** Professional/Other includes patient registration, coding, billing, and other fiscal services.

GMH's full-time equivalents (FTEs) fall under several functional groups, the largest of which are Nursing & Medical, Professional/Clinical Support, Operations, and Professional/Other. The Operations group includes various non-clinical functions such as human resources, materials management, housekeeping, security, facilities maintenance, and guest relations.

With a total of 985 full-time equivalents (FTEs) in FY 2016, this infers GMH's ratio of FTEs to adjusted occupied beds (AOB) is 5.16.² This places GMH between the 2nd and 3rd quartiles of state and local government owned hospital peer quartiles (4.44 and 5.28, respectively) of the 2010 Healthcare Management Partners (HMP) Metrics Report. ³ HMP is a hospital services management firm that analyzed six years of publicly available Medicare cost report data. HMP's sample includes 3,000 acute care hospitals.

² The FTEs to AOB ratio is found by calculating adjusted patient days (dividing total gross revenues by inpatient revenue and multiplying by inpatient days); calculating AOB (dividing adjusted patient days by 365 days); and dividing total FTEs by AOB.

³ http://www.hcmpllc.com/images/uploads/Summary.pdf



Figure 2 - Full-time Equivalents to Adj. Occupied Beds

GMH's FTEs to adjusted occupied beds suggests GMH falls in the middle or in the average of HMP's peer group for state and local government hospitals as illustrated on **Figure 2**. This ratio fluctuates with GMH's occupancy.

Further, the American Hospital Association (AHA) provides statistical data which include FTEs, employees, and total beds for U.S. Registered Community Hospitals.⁴ This information is grouped by hospital size based on bed capacity. Using this information, averages can be calculated for each of AHA's sample groups and then be used for comparison to GMH.

In **Figure 3**, GMH's FY 2015 FTE count is compared to AHA's 2014 grouping for hospitals sized with 100-199 beds is based on a sample size of 1,013 hospitals with the later grouping sized 200-299 beds based on a sample 536 hospital. Both of these groups were selected for comparison to GMH's 201 beds.

Note: 1st quartile is considered "high performing" according to Healthcare Management Partners Metric's Report.

⁴ Community hospitals are defined as all nonfederal, short-term general, and other special hospitals that meet AHA's criteria for registration as a hospital facility. Registered hospitals include AHA member hospitals as well as nonmember hospitals.



Source: American Hospital Association Statistics Book

Overhead and Administrative Expenses

Using Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) 2015 cost report data, GMH did an analysis of 399 rural hospitals to compare how much GMH spends on overhead or non-medically related expenses. This sample consists of rural hospitals with 100 to 299 facility beds.

Under Medicare cost reporting, overhead expenses are represented by general service cost centers. Cost center categories include capital related costs, employee benefits, administrative and general, maintenance and repair, operation of plant, housekeeping, and cafeteria. Illustrated on **Figure 4**, the sample's average expense for overhead as a percentage of total expenses is 44.9% and ranging from a minimum of 23.4% to a maximum of 75.4%. GMH's overhead is 40.7% of total expenses based on its 2015 cost report.



Source: 2015 CMS Cost Report Data

Using the same sample of data, Administrative and General (A&G) costs were also analyzed to provide a comparison. A&G includes a wide variety of provider administrative costs such as but not limited to cost of executive staff, legal and accounting services, facility administrative services (not already included in other general services cost centers), and human resources. As shown on **Figure 5**, GMH's A&G expenses represent 10.3% of total expenses, whereas the sample's percentages range from 3.3% to 33.7% with an average of 15.6% and a median of 15.1%.



Source: 2015 CMS Cost Report Data

Existing Services at GMH

GMH provides comprehensive, quality inpatient care and outpatient services for adults and children. Services include acute adult and pediatric medical care; urgent care and 24-hour emergency services; surgical services; obstetrics, labor/delivery and nursery; critical and intensive care (neonatal, pediatric and adult); skilled nursing care; laboratory; inpatient pharmacy services; telemetry and progressive care; radiology, angiography, and CT scan diagnostic services; respiratory care; catheterization laboratory; inpatient renal dialysis; cardiac rehabilitation, physical, occupational and recreational therapy, speech pathology; dietetic services; patient education and medical library; social services; and pastoral care services.

- Emergency Department: Staffed 24 hours a day by qualified physicians and nursing staff for those who come to GMH seeking emergency medical care.
- Intensive/Critical Care Unit (ICU-CCU): Provides continuous monitoring and comprehensive nursing care for heart attack patients, critical medical and surgical patients, and patients in need of ventilator support. A Neonatal ICU and Pediatric ICU also provide comprehensive care for newborns and children. GMH is currently the only hospital on Guam to consistently staff and operate ICU units for pediatrics and newborns.
- Skilled Nursing Unit: Located in Barrigada Heights, provides patients with long-term rehabilitative care. The SNU is Medicare certified for 40 beds. The Unit is staffed with a Medical

Director, Unit Coordinator, Social Services, Dietary, Rehabilitation, Facilities, Environmental and Security Staff.

- Radiology: Performs standard X-rays, angiography, fluoroscopy, biopsies, ultrasounds, and interventional procedures. CAT scans are performed with a 64-slice CT machine. All images may be digitally transmitted to any major medical institution anywhere in the world for consultation with medical specialists.⁵
- Special Services: Provides stress EKGs, echocardiograms, neurology, cardiology and orthopedic consultations.
- Guest Relations: Patient advocates are available at GMH and meet with patients for a variety of
 reasons. They evaluate satisfaction levels with hospital services and inform patients of their
 rights. Hospital policies and services are also explained to patients as well as their right to make
 end-of-life care decisions through the use of an Advance Directive (Living Will). As patient
 advocates, the staff also investigates grievances and complaints.
- Rehabilitation Services:
 - Speech Pathology to include:
 - o Inpatient/Outpatient adult and pediatric modified barium swallow studies
 - o Acute/inpatient bedside speech/swallow evaluations
 - Outpatient speech/swallow evaluations/therapy
 - o Outpatient voice therapy
 - Outpatient language therapy.
 - Cardiac Rehabilitation to include:
 - EKG monitoring
 - o Portable heart rate monitoring
 - o Blood pressure and pulse oximetry monitoring
 - Exercise monitoring with treadmills, stationary cycles, recumbent stepper, arm ergometers, and weights/total gym
 - Individualized cardiovascular strength-building program with risk factor modification education
 - Medication management assistance
 - Nutrition and lifestyle management
 - Physical Therapy to include:
 - Wound management
 - o Hydrotherapy
 - o Whirlpool
 - Gait / ambulation training
 - o Stair training
 - o Transfer training
 - Modalities—electrical, thermal, therapeutic ultrasound, cryotherapy

⁵ GMH's radiology department currently operates without magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and nuclear medicine. The department shares a single angio-suite with the cardiology and special services department.

- Strengthening, Exercise, Range of motion, Stretching
- Balance / gross motor training
- o Stroke rehabilitation
- o Orthopedic rehabilitation
- Occupational Therapy to include:
 - o Functional Evaluation
 - o Wheelchair Evaluation for adult and pediatric populations
 - o Functional Capacity Evaluation
 - $\circ \quad \text{Orthotic fabrication} \quad$
 - o Serial casting
 - Work conditioning
 - o Driving screen
 - Assistive device prescription
 - o Adaptive device training
 - o Neurorehabilitation

Health Services for Inmates & Detainees

In November 2015, GMH entered into a consolidated agreement with the Department of Corrections (DOC) to provide outpatient medical services to detainees and inmates. The agreement details the provision of medical services by GMH to the inmates and detainees including pharmaceutical services, nursing services, physician services, and medical services. Inpatient services are not included in this agreement and are instead billed and paid by DOC as inmates or detainees are hospitalized. DOC is required to remit to GMH payments for clinical services in agreed upon amounts subject to appropriation by the Legislature.

The purpose of the agreement is to address the health care needs of DOC inmate and detainee populations consistent with community standards of care and the requirements set forth under a court order related to a federal civil case. The case concerns the Government's efforts to comply with a 1991 settlement agreement in a 20-year-old civil rights lawsuit. If the government had failed to comply, DOC would have potentially been placed under a costly receivership. In April, the federal court instead dismissed the case as the requirements of the order were met.

Challenges for GMH

A fundamental goal for hospitals is to maximize revenues and minimize cost. According to James Langabeer, a professor of health care management at the University of Texas who authored *Health Care Operations Management: A Systems Perspective*, decisions arise from the contracting perspective with third-party payers. He along with others in the industry refer to this process as revenue cycle management –*the process of managing claims processing, setting payment practices, and generating revenue*. There are several aspects of this process that are unique and challenging to a public hospital on Guam and they are highlighted in the following sections.

Challenging Payer Mix and Reimbursement Rates

Federal law, namely the Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act (EMTALA), requires anyone coming to an emergency room to be stabilized and treated, regardless of their insurance status or ability to pay. Compliance with EMTALA is a condition for being a provider for Medicare services. Unique to GMH is adherence not only with EMTALA but also with Guam's Organic Act which mandates the Governor to establish, maintain and operate public health services that specifically include hospitals. Accordingly, as a matter of practice and policy, GMH hospital services are made available to anyone who needs them regardless of their ability to pay even after admission for inpatient services.

With such a responsibility, GMH management focuses on its payer mix and respective payer reimbursement or collection rates. Particular focus is given to Medicaid, Medicare, and Medically Indigent Program (MIP) (also known as the 3 M's) representing \$93.6 million or 60% of GMH's \$156.3 million in gross patient billings in FY 2016. **Figure 6** breaks down gross billings by payer.



Figure 6 - GMH Payer Mix

Table 4 - Percentage of Collections over Billings (FY 2016)		
Medicaid	66%	
Medicare	36%	
MIP	47%	
Other	68%	
Self-pay	43%	

For FY 2016, collection rates by payer type are indicated on Table 4.

Cash flows from patient receivables have improved significantly over the last few years with a consequential reduction in Days in Accounts Receivable. The Days in Accounts Receivable Ratio measures the average time that it takes for a hospital to collect its receivables. The shorter the average collection period, the lower the dollar amount of receivables.



Historically, GMH experienced extraordinarily high days in accounts receivable, but as evidenced in **Figure 7**, days in receivables have improved from 216 days in FY 2011 to 87 days in FY 2016. Management's goal is to bring GMH closer to 40 to 50 days which is in line with the industry norm.

GMH has implemented several revenue and collection initiatives over the last two years. These include:

- Updating fee schedules on a regular basis;
- Use of software to ensure fees equal or exceed Medicare rates;
- Compiling and sending collection reports to major third-party insurers;
- In-depth denial reviews and active rebilling;
- Online payment service;
- Timely coding and billing; and a
- Vigorous tax garnishment program.

Further improvement to the revenue and collection processes can be expected from the continuous enhancements which are being made to GMH clinical and accounting systems. Included in this plan is a proposal to invest in improved information technology, hardware, and software which will transfer information across all platforms. When implemented, these systems will facilitate further revenue and collection improvements.

Outdated Costing Data for Medicare Reimbursements

Unlike most hospitals in the U.S., GMH is not reimbursed by Medicare under what is known as the prospective payment system (PPS) –created in 1982 with the passing of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA) by Congress. This system is designed to pay a single flat rate per type of discharge, as determined by classification of regularly updated diagnosis-related group (DRG). Instead, certain hospitals including those on Guam, American Samoa, and the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands and certain specialized hospitals in the U.S. mainland are exempt from the PPS system and continue to be reimbursed in a manner that was in place before 1982. In Medicare parlance, these hospitals are often referred to as "TEFRA hospitals." These facilities were exempted from PPS because it was believed that both the types of care provided and the settings for this care are unsuited to a rate system based on national averages which are used to develop DRGs.⁶

TEFRA hospitals are reimbursed based on the cost of treating Medicare patients as determined by the Medicare Care Cost Report with an aggregate per discharge limit based on facilities cost of care in 1982. This limit is updated each year by a hospital market basket index determined by Medicare to account for inflation. In 1997, Congress allowed a one-time rebasing-rate for TEFRA hospitals. For this, GMH used a 1992-1994 period as the base year because of the unavailability of records due to a computer system overhaul in 1995-1996. As a result, the standard reimbursement rates for GMH are based on 1992-1994 costs and the level of Medicare reimbursement does not reflect current costs. Further, Medicare's methodology for reimbursement is somewhat mirrored by Medicaid and the local Medically Indigent Program (MIP). Thus, the reimbursements for patients with coverage under those programs are similarly impacted. The 3 M's account for almost 60% of GMH's total patient revenues.

The TEFRA method for reimbursement includes provisions that limit the reimbursement level to, among other things, a small inflationary factor called a Market Basket Index and data from prior year cost reports going back many years. Had more current data been submitted, the limits imposed by CMS would have been adjusted appropriately so that the actual costs of Medicare services GMH provides are more adequately reimbursed. Instead, the base rate of reimbursement does not adequately cover such costs and, on a per discharge basis, GMH has consistently been under-reimbursed since 2002 as shown in **Figure 8**.

⁶ Impact analysis of the TEFRA system for reimbursement of PPS-excluded hospitals: final report by Harrow, Brooke; United States. Health Care Financing Administration; Center for Health Economics Research (Waltham, Mass.) 1990. Source: https://archive.org/stream/impactanalysisof00harr/impactanalysisof00harr_djvu.txt





GMH management continues to pursue a TEFRA rebasing and adjustment to close the gap between actual cost per discharge and the total amount per discharge actually reimbursed. An audit by CMS on the FY 2013 Medicare Cost Report completed in June 2015 validated the actual costs per discharge. GMH demonstrated its costs have increased beyond the inflationary index rates due to the substantial changes in the nature of services and the population GMH has served since the base year. Accordingly, GMH argues that its new cost baseline should be the costs incurred as submitted in its FY 2014 request. While success has been made in obtaining annual adjustment approvals by CMS, GMH remains hopeful a permanent rebasing will eventually be achieved. This will minimize the costly annual administrative expenditures required in pursuing the annual one-time TEFRA adjustments.

Furthermore, the expansion of new services may result in the creation of new cost centers. These new cost centers will be reimbursed at a higher level than GMH's existing cost centers because their costs will be based on the year they are created.

Low Ratio of Outpatient to Inpatient Revenues

Unlike most hospitals of similar size, outpatient services account for a relatively small percentage of GMH's total patient revenues. Statistics by the AHA show that in its 2014 sample of community hospitals with 200 to 299 beds, 46% of total gross patient revenues of those hospitals resulted from outpatient services. Additionally, AHA provides a sample of hospitals with 100 to 199 beds with a percentage of 51%. In contrast to GMH, outpatient revenues as a percentage of gross patient revenues are 23% in FY 2015 and 24% in FY 2014. Interestingly, the norm for GMH today was the norm for the hospital industry in the early 90's and this can partly be attributed to the lack of investment to expand services. AHA's data shows a clear trend in which outpatient service revenue steadily grew from 28% in 1994 to 46% in 2014.⁷

⁷ http://www.aha.org/research/reports/tw/chartbook/2016/table4-2.pdf

There are obvious financial considerations concerning GMH's low level of delivery for outpatient services. Particularly under Medicare, GMH is reimbursed at a higher rate for outpatient services than for inpatient services. In the last three years, GMH's payments received as a percentage of total charges were about 50.2% for outpatient services versus 43.5% in inpatient revenue.⁸ This payment to charge ratio for non-emergency outpatient services is even higher: 55%, but gross charges for this particular line of service represents only 5% of GMH's gross billings. GMH's goal is to maximize its service offerings under this line of service to benefit from its higher reimbursement rate.

Based on historical data, GMH has developed its own revenue assumptions concerning inpatient versus non-emergent hospital-based outpatient revenue. They are explained in a later section. The effects can be substantial as illustrated in a hypothetical scenario of \$1 million in gross patient revenue presented on **Table 5**.

Table 5 - \$1 million Scenario Applying Revenue Assumptions		
	Outpatient	Inpatient
Gross patient Revenue	\$ 1,000,000	1,000,000
Revenue Mix		
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP	582,858	612,576
Commercial Insurance	351,522	270,872
Self Pay	65,620	116,552
Total gross patient revenue	1,000,000	1,000,000
Allowances		
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP	(254,280)	(346,618)
Commercial Insurance	(90,910)	(71,350)
Self Pay	(43,035)	(99,738)
Total allowances	(388,224)	(517,706)
Net patient revenue	\$ 611,776	482,294

GMH's plans to expand hospital-based outpatient services cannot be achieved in any significant way without the proposed investments because it is constrained by not having the requisite equipment, spacing, and facility requirements to offer such services.

As a consequence of GMH's payer mix, under-reimbursement for services rendered to 3M patients, an unfavorable ratio of inpatient to outpatient service revenue, and other factors, operational shortfalls have been a perennial challenge.

Figure 9 illustrates GMH's operating expenses having exceeded operating revenues from as early as 1998, necessitating government subsidies on a continuous annual basis. A substantial increase in this shortfall can be seen in FY 2010 when accreditation from the Joint Commission was achieved, reflecting the added costs of meeting and maintaining accreditation standards.

⁸ Information based on raw unaudited billing data.



Figure 9 - GMH Operating Revenues vs. Operating Expenditures (in \$1,000,000's)

Operating Revenue ■ Operating Expenditure Operating (Loss) gain

Guam Health Care & Social Assistance Sector

In 2012, there were over \$365 million in receipts on Guam in the healthcare and social assistance sector.⁹ GMH's gross patient billings, during that period, was \$148 million accounting for approximately 41% of total receipts.¹⁰ The Guam U.S. Naval Hospital with 42 beds provides services only to military personnel and their dependents. Guam's newest hospital, a private hospital in Dededo, opened its doors in the summer of 2015. In addition to Guam's three hospitals, the island's health sector includes 46 clinics which provide diagnostic and ambulatory services on an outpatient basis.

Island-wide Hospital Bed Capacity

The bed-to-population ratio serves as a basic measure of acute service availability. The expansion of facilities and the investment needed is not addressed in this first phase of investment but will be a priority in the second phase of capital investment which has been included in the pro forma financials.

In the United States, the ratio of inpatient beds to every 1,000 persons is 2.5 in 2014.¹¹ Using this ratio as a benchmark for Guam would mean that with its population of 159,358¹², as reported in the 2010 census, Guam should have 398 beds. The current breakdown of beds by hospital is provided in **Figure 10**.



Figure 10 - Beds Needed vs. Beds Available on Guam

Using the U.S. bed-to-population ratio benchmark requirement of 398 beds for Guam, it is apparent Guam is still short 25 beds, even after the opening of a new private hospital in 2015. Additional beds

⁹ 2012 Economic Census of the Islands – U.S. Census Bureau

¹⁰ GMH's average gross billing for FY2011 and FY2012 was used for comparison to calendar year census figure.

¹¹ 2014 figure from American Hospital Association (AHA) – Hospital Statistics, 2016 Edition

¹² 2014 Guam Statistical Handbook

may be needed in the long-term. Guam's mortality rates are high compared to the nation. To illustrate this point, the death rates per 100,000 persons for four certain leading causes of death on Guam are indicated in **Figure 11**.



Figure 11 - Guam vs. U.S.: Age-adjusted Deaths per 100,000

Guam is projecting a dramatic increase in population with an impending military buildup to support the relocation to Guam of approximately 5,000 U.S Marines and their 1,300 family members from Okinawa, Japan. Based on estimates provided by the Department of Defense's Supplementary Environmental Impact Statement issued in July 2015, Guam's population by 2020 could reach approximately 200,000 – indicating a need for 500 beds.

There is a community expectation of a standard level and continuity of care that must be provided at GMH. In addition to pressures mentioned above concerning the community's demands, GMH management recognizes the private hospital is not subject to the same constraints that GMH must adhere to with respect to a patient's ability to pay. **Thus, there is additional burden on GMH to address demands particularly in those cases which involve diversion post emergency in which patients would be brought to the private**

hospital for emergencies and then diverted to GMH upon stabilization. Further, there have been numerous occasions when a service unit within the private hospital's facility is closed due to staffing constraints or other challenges. GMH is then called upon and expected to cover the gap. There is a community expectation of a standard level and continuity of care that must be provided at GMH.

In later sections of this plan, GMH describes its program to adopt a more hospital-based outpatient approach to address patient care. GMH management believes this approach may help to mitigate the need for acute inpatient services dependent on bed capacity. This is based on historical experience of patients not obtaining follow-up care after discharge and waiting until their condition becomes emergent when they present themselves back to the hospital. Having a hospital-based outpatient service to treat this population base will decrease the demand for a costlier inpatient service.

Source: Centers for Disease Control, National Vital Statistics Reports - Deaths: Final Data for 2011; Figures in age-adjusted deaths per 100,000.

Island-wide Payer System

A large portion of Guam's population has some type of insurance coverage based on figures by the U.S. Census Bureau. On Guam, healthcare coverage can be through an assortment of programs through the government and private companies. Based on **Table 6**, it can be implied that almost 80% of adults and 85% of persons under 18 have some form of coverage.

Table 6 - Health Insurance Coverage Status For The Civilian (2	010)
Noninstitutionalized Population	
Total:	153,625
With health insurance coverage:	121,160
With private health insurance coverage only	75,435
With public health insurance coverage only	34,405
With both private and public health insurance coverage	11,320
No health insurance coverage	32,465
Noninstitutionalized Population Under 18 Years	
Total:	52,250
With health insurance coverage	44,631
No health insurance coverage	7,619

Source: U.S. Census Bureau

The availability of health coverage to Guam's population is one of the reasons why the investors of the new private hospital took an interest in building a private hospital on Guam.¹³

Government Programs

An assortment of health coverage programs is available through the local and federal government. They include:

- Medicare: A U.S. federally funded insurance program and administered by the federal government for people over the age of 65, people under the age of 65 with certain disabilities, and people of all ages with end-stage renal disease.
- Medicaid: Medicaid is a joint federal and state program that helps pay medical costs for some people with limited income and resources. Medicaid also offers benefits not normally covered by Medicare, like nursing home care and personal care services. Guam's Medicaid is administered by Guam Department of Public Health and Social Services (DPHSS). Eligibility for this program is generally for individuals under the age of 65 who meet certain income thresholds based on the federal poverty level (FPL).
- Medically Indigent Program (MIP): MIP was established by and is funded by the Government of Guam to assist with the health care cost for individuals who meet the income, resource, and residency requirements. MIP is administered through the DPHSS.

¹³ Presentation: Doing Well, Doing Good, 15 March 2012, Guam Regional Medical City, http://slideplayer.com/slide/737192/

• Tricare (previously known as Champus): Is a federally funded health care program of the U.S. Department of Defense for military personnel, retirees, and their dependents. Like Medicare, the DOD contracts private parties to administer the Tricare programs for its beneficiaries.

Health Maintenance Organizations

There are four major health insurance carriers on Guam: namely, NetCare, Staywell, SelectCare, and TakeCare. Shown on **Table 7** is the total number of transactions paid by each HMO to GMH from 2009 to 2014. An HMO collects insurance premiums from its subscribers on a regular basis in return for providing coverage for their subscribers.

Table 7 - Count of Insurance Transactions at GMH						
Payer	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009
NetCare	4,136	3,740	7,139	6,167	3,892	4,514
StayWell	19,739	7,782	10,390	6,510	3,968	4,832
SelectCare	40,836	33,509	38,722	21,922	23,815	20,063
TakeCare (FHP)	21,780	11,704	14,956	9,229	7,534	6,619
Total	86,491	56,735	71,207	43,828	39,209	36,028

Source: 2014 Guam Statistical Handbook

The Project

Description and Costs

The total cost of capital improvement projects is estimated at \$125 million, itemized in **Table 8** below:

Table 8 - Breakdown of Project Items and Cos	its
Item	Amount (in US\$)
Z-Wing Abatement, Demolition and A/E Design and Construction Plus Other Key Renovations (2-3 Flrs, to include Radiology, Laboratory, Special Services, OR, Telemetry/PCU Unit move to 2nd Flr at & across from ICU, Neurology, Stroke Center, Hyperbaric Chamber/Wound Care, MD Offices, Fiscal Services, Pro Support Services, Operations, Utilities Center, Infill of Middle Courtyard 1- 4 Flrs, Construction of 3rd Flr Front Courtyard, etc.).	\$ 45,000,000
Fixtures, Furnishings & Equipment (FF&E) Package for the above Z- Wing Replacement Project (to include multiple renovations/upgrades of other hospital areas (both clinical and administrative).	37,000,000
Fully Integrated Organization-wide Information Technology System	20,000,000
Parking Structure Development Project (A/E Design & Construction).	12,000,000
Hospital Electrical Panel Upgrade Project to include perimeter road from back of Hospital thru Western Side of Hospital (Construction Only); and Hospital Utilities Upgrades to include removal and replacement of Boiler No. 2, LOX Tanks No. 1 & No. 2, Fuel Line, Chemical Treatment Feeder System, Water Softener, and Booster Pump System.	6,000,000
Hospital Roof Systems Upgrade, Rain Water Runoffs Upgrade, Additional Solar Panels Installation & Commissioning & Facility Paint Project	5,000,000
Total Project Cost	\$ 125,000,000

Funding

GMH envisions funding to be provided through the issuance of a municipal bond by the Government of Guam secured with a pledge of additional revenues from a 0.75 percentage points increase in the Business Privilege Tax (BPT).

Under this scenario, the BPT would increase from 4% to 4.75% on gross receipts. This increase will be a dedicated funding source for GMH. The Bureau of Budget and Management Research (BBMR) estimates \$46 million in new revenues per year to the Government of Guam. Of this amount, \$7.2 million will be allocated for the debt service of a 30-year \$125 million bond issue assuming 3.94% all-in true interest cost, which is based in current market conditions. The remaining \$39 million from the tax increase will be allocated to address GMH's annual shortfalls.

The effect of this transaction on GMH's financials will be in the form of a contribution from the government to the hospital in the hospital's statement of changes in net position. Further, the underlying construction paid through bond proceeds will reflect an increase in assets in GMH's balance sheet. The financing of the bond will not be reflected on GMH's financials.

Alternative and additional sources of funding may be obtained through public-private partnerships in which a private participant or developer finances the capital improvements. An effort which typically requires legislative approval, GMH may engage such party in a long-term contractual arrangement in which the participant is compensated through lease rentals of the new facility or revenue sharing. The manner in which these contractual arrangements are entered will be governed by Guam law and the Government of Guam's procurement rules and regulations –likely under a Request for Proposal-type of procurement. If such approach is undertaken, GMH is committed to assessing proposals based on their projected life cycle costs and benefits.

Estimated Timetable of Activities

	Table 9 - Z-Wing Project Phases		
	Phase I	Z-Wing Abatement/Demolition Process	
Phase II A/E Design Services		A/E Design Services	
	Phase III & IV	Construction Services & FF&E Upgrades	

Z-wing construction projects are enumerated in three phases on Table 9.

GMH estimates it will take 36 months (1,080 Calendar Days or three Years) to complete the Z-Wing Abatement/Demolition (Phase I), A/E Design Services (Phase II), Construction Services (Phase (III), and the FF&E Package Implementation (Phase IV) of the Project. **Table 10** provides an estimated project timeline:

Table 10 - Z-wing Estimated Time for Completion		
Activity	No. of Calendar Days	
RFP Phase for Abatement/Demolition Services	60	
Contract Award Phase for Abatement/Demolition Services	60	
Abatement/Demolition Services (Phase I)	120	
RFP Phase for A/E Design Services	60	
Contract Award Phase for A/E Design Services	60	
A/E Design Services (Phase II)	240	
Formal Bid Phase for Construction Services	60	
Contract Award Phase for Construction Services	60	
Construction Services & FF&E Period (Phases III & IV)	360	
Grand Total	1,080	

Source: GMHA FY16 DOI CIP Grant Project

In practice, the timeline may be further developed and adjusted by those commissioned to conduct the architectural and engineering design. Further, some items in the table above may occur at the same time. The timeframe is presented in this manner in order to provide a conservative estimate.

New Z-wing Facility and Expanded Services

The Z-Wing Replacement Project seeks to rebuild a facility that is over 50 years old and currently represents a life safety risk for all who work at or visit the hospital. The Z-wing by itself represents the single oldest component of the hospital, whereas capital improvements in the last 25 years occurred elsewhere in the hospital. The successful completion of this project will carry GMH well into the future

relative to providing quality healthcare in a safe environment. More importantly, it will allow GMH to have the requisite equipment, spacing, and facility requirements in order to expand hospital-based outpatient services.

Table 11 - New Z-wing Square Footage by Area							
New Z-Wing (mostly 4 stories, partially 2 stories)	42,000						
Middle Courtyard Infill (4 stories)	6,944						
Front Courtyard Infill (1 story on 3rd Floor)	3,484						
Existing OR (Telemetry Relocation/Renovation)	10,918						
B & C Wing 3rd Floor Enclosure	21,000						
Total Sq. Footage:	84,346						

The Z-Wing Replacement Project consists of approximately 84,000 sq. ft. as shown on **Table 11**.

Upon completion of the new Z-wing, GMH will commence operating and the Guam community will begin benefiting from the following:

- Enhanced and sustained array of Hospital Laboratory Services, which are certified by the College
 of American Pathologists (CAP) to include: Chemistry; Hematology; and Histology. Additionally,
 upgrade of the Laboratory Information System (LIS) will result in a better-quality care for the
 patient and serve the community of Guam overall.
 - Laboratory Information Systems are critical to high quality healthcare service provisions in the health industry. Data show that the need for these systems is growing to meet accompanying technological and workload demands. Additionally, laboratory tests provide the majority of information for clinical decision-making. Laboratory processes automation, including patient result verification, will greatly improve laboratory test throughout while decreasing turn-around-times, enabling critical results to reach physicians rapidly for improved clinical outcomes and enhanced patient care.
 - U.S. hospitals are actively involved in laboratory systems planning to improve health service quality. Specifically, data show new and upgraded laboratory information systems are currently being installed throughout the U.S. As a result, this increasing investment in laboratory information systems is providing state-of-the-art clinical laboratory support, which enhances clinical care processes and improves quality care for improved patient outcomes.
 - These state-of-the-art Laboratory Information Systems, when interfaced with other clinical information systems such as the Chemistry and Hematology Analyzers will support further healthcare quality improvement. It will reduce time spent on resulting and cut errors that are associated with the manual transcribing processes.
 - Physicians and lab technicians will use these laboratory information systems to coordinate varieties of inpatient and outpatient medical testing, including hematology, chemistry, immunology and microbiology which are certified by the College of American Pathologists (CAP).

- New Neurology, Stroke and Wound Care Services to include the utilization of state-of-the-art hyperbaric chambers.
- New Surgical Arts & Trauma Care Services within state-of-the-art Surgical Suites complemented by Cystoscopy, Endoscopy and Post Anesthesia Recovery Units for the provision of excellent medical services focused upon the Guam community's full service need and demand for:
 - o General Surgery; and its
 - Subspecialties (to include Neurosurgery, etc.)
- Newly renovated Telemetry Unit to be relocated at the existing Operating Room for enhanced service symmetry between the Intensive Care Unit (ICU), the Progressive Care Unit (PCU) and the Telemetry Unit all on the 2nd Floor.
- Conversion of existing Telemetry Unit to a hospital-based SNU to enable GMH to effectively absorb the SNU (in Barrigada) at the Hospital. This may require conversion of existing 2-bed rooms to single bed rooms, which is a "best practice" for skilled nursing care. This has the potential to have a substantial positive economic impact, as it would enable GMH to consolidate all of its services and resources (e.g., human resources, medical supplies & medical equipment) at GMH as well as pave the way for GMH to lease the existing SNU to contractors, whom may be interested in establishing some form of private healthcare business venture to benefit the Guam community.
- Enhanced and sustained array of Radiological Services to include:
 - New, Hospital-based Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) Services;
 - Telemedicine and Tele-radiology Services;
 - Interventional Radiology Services;
 - o CT Scanning Services;
 - Fluoroscopic Services; and
 - Nuclear Medicine.
- Enhanced and sustained array of Special Services to include:
 - Echocardiogram;
 - o Stress Test;
 - o EKG and EEG;
 - Cardiac MIBI and Neurology;
 - Cardiology Consultations; and a
 - New, state-of-the-art Catheterization Lab.
- New Medical Arts, Fiscal Services & Operations Wing for the following functional divisions/departments:
 - Medical Staff Division Offices;
 - Professional Support Division Offices;
 - o Fiscal Services Division Offices; and
 - Operations Division Offices.
- Enhanced Pulmonary and Respiratory Center:
 - Sleep studies, CPAP/BIPAP titration;

- o Cardio pulmonary exercise testing; and
- Staging to a full pulmonary rehab service.
- New Oncology Care Services to include public-private partnerships that will bring in a full array of clinicians to meet the increasing demand of GMH's Oncology Patients.

The delivery of new services in this section, particularly those services featured as new hospital-based outpatient revenue sources in GMH's financial projection, is often dependent on a cross-section of departments or units within GMH relying on the same equipment. For example, a new cardiac catheterization lab would be used by two distinct revenue centers: cardiology and interventional radiology.

To help relate specific projects to GMH's projections, a table outlining the cost of \$37 million in fixtures, furnishings and equipment (FF&E) is provided in **Appendix D**. The appendix lists the specific investments in FF&E needed to support the expansion of hospital-based outpatient radiology and cardiology services that are highlighted in the final sections of this document. They are in the sections for the Radiology and Special Services departments.

Included in the list of equipment to be invested in is a total of \$11 million for the Radiology Department for the purchase of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) equipment and other new radiology equipment. Additionally, a total of \$7.9 million in FF&E is slated for GMH's Special Services Department for a new cardiac catheterization machine, cardiac related equipment, and stroke and wound care.

Expanded radiology, interventional radiology, and cardiology services and their associated FF&E investments are integral parts of GMH's strategy to increase hospital-based outpatient revenues and address existing demands given core scope of services. The Z-Wing Replacement Project will accommodate the physical spacing requirements needed to employ this strategy and address the needs of other existing services centers.

Other Key Capital Improvement Projects for Funding

The following projects representing the balance of the \$125 million in expenditure are deemed necessary for the hospitals continued operations regardless of expansion intended to improve direct patient care or generate additional revenue. They are presented in the next several sections.

Replacement of Electrical Distribution Panel

The existing hospital electrical distribution system was commissioned in 1985 and is now 30+ years old and includes feed wiring, switchgear and transformer components. According to the AHA's Estimated Useful Lives of Depreciable Hospital Assets, Revised 2013 Edition, the useful lives of the system's components are as follows:

> Feed Wiring......20 years Switchgear.....15 years Transformer......30 years

The phased removal and replacement of the existing electrical distribution panel will include a road development behind the hospital that will effectuate GMH's Traffic Improvement Plan for small and

large emergency transport vehicles. It is critical that this project proceed on the front end of GMH's Expansion Master Plan in order for GMH to meet and sustain its mission "to provide quality patient care in a safe environment". Construction and equipment cost is estimated to be \$6 million.

Parking Structure Development Project

GMH envisions building a multi-story parking structure plus a functional rooftop for either additional parking or administrative office space to maximize the limited square footage available on GMH's spatial footprint in Oka. GMH has a major shortage of hospital parking space, more evident during the day shift (0730 – 1530). There are currently 500 parking stalls at GMH. To fully accommodate all patients, families, visitors, volunteers, contractors, student nurses, and staff during both normal and emergency operations, GMH, needs at least twice the capacity.

GMH believes that an enclosed parking structure will provide a "best practice" safe, secure parking environment for all to park their respective vehicles during all types of weather and other natural conditions (e.g., heavy rainfall, tropical cyclones, both daytime and nighttime hours, etc.) and to also safely and securely walk between the hospital and the parking structure. Furthermore, additional parking at GMH will also be needed to support expanded hospital-based outpatient services.

Hospital Roof Systems

GMH's hospital roof system requires repairs and improvements together with the rainwater runoffs and facility paint coating. This project will involve upgrading all of GMH's roof systems and rainwater runoffs prior to repainting the hospital exterior at all wings except for the Z-Wing. To mitigate long term problems associated with rainwater runoff at the exterior walls, proper design and maintenance of rainwater runoff systems is required to resolve this persistent problem.

With proper roof protective coatings, adequate roof slopes to prevent roof ponding, the locations of roof drain at the low points of roofs/balconies, and the use of strainers and overflow drains to prevent clogging, this design measure could prevent long term deterioration of building exterior walls. Together with a proper maintenance program, this could prolong or enhance the lifespan of the building.

Hospital-based Information Technology Infrastructure Enhancements

GMH intends to purchase, install, and commission end-user training to implement a fully Integrated Organization-Wide Information Technology System featuring clinical, ancillary and financial applications designed for today's healthcare environment with the adaptability to accommodate the challenges of the future. The system connects clinicians and administrators with shared patient information and workflow to advance accuracy, efficiency and safety across healthcare settings, departments, locations and other Government of Guam agencies that are critical partners within Guam's healthcare system.

The Installation Phase requires migration of existing electronic and hardcopy patient information to the new Information Technology System. The Information Technology System is needed to enable GMH to provide better patient care, enhance patient safety, productivity and profitability while staying current with complex and changing regulatory environment. GMH's new Information Technology System will be a unified suite of digital solutions proven to streamline administration, reduce costs and improve patient care and safety. The new system shall fully automate and integrate the entire organization's processes,

including order entry, analytic operations, information distribution, billing and business performance management.

This new Information Technology System will provide for fully integrated modalities such as electronic medical record, clinical imaging, computerized physician order entry, laboratory, radiology, pharmacy, emergency department, perioperative, revenue cycle, patient accounting, general financials, supply chain, materials management, medication history, enterprise content management, document management, maintenance management, medical devices, point of care, mobility, interoperability, quality and performance improvement, reporting and outcomes, workforce management, JC compliance, CMS compliance and compliance with federal laws protecting patient information.

Emphasis: Hospital-based Outpatient Care Model

As was noted in the section entitled *Challenges to GMH*, hospital-based outpatient revenue represents a small portion of GMH's total gross patient revenues. GMH addresses this issue in two fundamental ways:

- Better patient care management by emphasizing shorter stays. This can be achieved if GMH provides a broader array of services in cardiology, oncology, or radiology within the physical confines of the hospital. Shorter stays on an inpatient basis results in lower costs. When a physician provider places a patient on observation as opposed to being admitted for inpatient services, the reimbursement is made on the more favorable outpatient basis.¹⁴ This effort will be supported by the creation of a GMH Observation Unit featured in another section.
- Enhancing the continuity of care by using a broader array of hospital-based services. Consistent with best practices and standard of care, upon discharge, GMH should serve as a source for follow-up care and consultation and other services as they relate to the specific medical reasons those patients were admitted to GMH in the first place. Such follow-up services will be delivered on a hospital-based outpatient basis which will also result in higher reimbursement.

The expansion of hospital-based outpatient services is central to GMH's strategy to achieve a greater level of financial health and improve its delivery of care. This is consistent with industry standards across U.S. hospitals' shift from inpatient to outpatient care. **Figure 12** is intended to illustrate how GMH management views the facility's expansion and improvement as they relate to better patient outcomes, increased hospital revenues and reduced hospital costs.

¹⁴ GMH's historical data supports this statement.





GMH has studied and made projections for three sources of hospital-based outpatient service centers: expanded radiology, interventional radiology, and cardiology. It should also be noted that while attention is focused on these specific lines of new services, new outpatient revenue opportunities are available in other areas of specialty including but not limited to surgery and oncology.

Financial Projections

Revenue Enhancements

When the capital projects detailed in this plan are implemented and in operation, GMHA will begin to generate positive operating cash flows in 2024. This will enable the hospital to accumulate cash reserves to fund operating expenses and which match the cash reserves required by GMH and other non-profit hospitals because of the cash collection intervals associated with their revenue cycles and the need to generate funding for future capital investments.

Expanded Radiology

Current radiology services at GMH are primarily inpatient. However, new radiology services, particularly on a hospital-based outpatient basis are necessary to provide full patient care. The expansion of outpatient radiology services in itself will make the hospital premises a more desirable referral center for community physicians as GMH will be perceived as a safer environment for procedures and for continuity of care.

As stated earlier, there are direct benefits to the community when hospital-based services are expanded. Specifically, for patients admitted for inpatient services, the expanded services will provide a timely and less invasive treatment approach to various medical ailments thereby reducing their length of stay. For example, when an acute care patient requires a Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) scan, that patient is transported to the nearest private facility that offers the much needed service. Having the MRI equipment on site will provide better efficiency and effectiveness in direct patient treatment, improved patient outcomes, and safety.

The reconstruction and equipping of the Z-wing will allow for the needed space and accommodation to develop MRI and Interventional Radiology. Overall, the expanded radiology services are projected to generate \$9.3 million in additional gross revenues in the first year and up to \$50 million on the tenth year.

MRI Facility

For the new MRI facility, GMH projects \$1.8 million in gross patient revenue in the first year of operation. This assumes 1,217 MRI procedures for the year at an average of \$1,500 in gross revenue per procedure. In the first year, it is projected that only 20% of the revenue will be for outpatient services. This percentage will increase to 50% on the tenth year. Applying GMH's outpatient payer mix and reimbursement assumptions and projected operating costs for the MRI facility, the net income for the third year is \$1.1 million based on 4,000 procedures that year. In succeeding years, GMH projects an annual growth in procedures of 5% annually for two years and tapering to 3.75% per year thereafter. A breakdown for the first five years is on **Table 12**.

Table 12 - Projected MRI Facility Income (in \$1,000s)									
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5			
Gross Patient Revenue Less: Allowances	\$	1,825	3 <i>,</i> 833	6,036	6,338	6,655			
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP		(599)	(1,243)	(1,937)	(2,012)	(2,091)			
Other patients		(137)	(291)	(464)	(491)	(520)			
Self Pay		(161)	(330)	(506)	(519)	(531)			
Less: allowances		(898)	(1,865)	(2,907)	(3,022)	(3,143)			
Net Patient Revenue		927	1,968	3,129	3,316	3,512			
Operating costs		(1,858)	(1,996)	(2,014)	(2,034)	(2,054)			
Net Income	\$	(931)	(28)	1,115	1,282	1,457			

Interventional Radiology

New Interventional Radiology services at GMH are projected to generate \$7.5 million in gross patient revenue in the first year of operation. This assumes 396 interventional radiology procedures in the first year at an average of \$19,000 in gross revenue per procedure. In the first year, it is projected that only 20% of the revenue will be for outpatient services. This percentage will increase to 50% on the tenth year. Applying GMH's outpatient payer mix and reimbursement assumptions and projected operating costs, the net earnings for the second year is \$2.7 million based on 792 procedures.

In succeeding years GMH projects procedures to double in the first two years tapering to 5% and 3.75% in growth in years thereafter. A breakdown for the first five years is provided on **Table 13**.

Table 13 - Projected Interventional Radiology Income (in \$1,000's)									
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5			
Gross Patient Revenue Less: Allowances	\$	7,524	15,048	31,601	33,181	34,840			
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP		(2,469)	(4,882)	(10,139)	(10,534)	(10,949)			
Other patients		(566)	(1,144)	(2,427)	(2,572)	(2,725)			
Self Pay		(665)	(1,296)	(2,652)	(2,715)	(2,782)			
Less: allowances		(3,700)	(7,322)	(15,218)	(15,821)	(16,456)			
Net Patient Revenue		3,824	7,726	16,383	17,360	18,384			
Operating costs		(3,879)	(5,008)	(12,306)	(12,859)	(13,440)			
Net Income	\$	(55)	2,719	4,077	4,501	4,945			

GMH's Perspective: The Clinical Case for Expanded Radiology

Interventional Radiology

Radiology services, such as interventional radiology (IR), have the major benefit of being minimally invasive as compared to surgery which historically has a longer recovery period for patients. Consequently, patients undergo less risky procedures, are able to recover faster, have less risk for infections, and have shorter hospital stays.

An expanded IR department will offer new diagnostic and treatment procedures. Diagnosing cancers, infections, or benign conditions are made simpler through IR. Biopsies under imaging make for accurate approaches to biopsy.

The most significant development in IR is in the area of vascular or blood circulation intervention (procedures performed with IR). These include:

- Providing vascular access for prolonged intravenous therapy for difficult to access patients;
- Providing vascular access for larger vessels in acute resuscitation (septic shock) and nutrition (TPN- Total Parenteral nutrition)
- Saving limbs in diabetic patients with infections;
- Restoring flow to clotted hemodialysis catheters or fistulas;
- Identifying and cauterizing (stopping) internal bleeds;
- Identifying and clipping aneurysms;
- Stenting aneurysms and clotted vessels; and
- Injecting targeted chemotherapeutic agents to cancer tissues.

Interventional Radiology (IR) has provided the most significant breakthrough in Medical Diagnosis and Treatment in patient care.

On-site MRI

MRI's capabilities lead to faster and more accurate diagnosis in many imaging studies. Patients with stroke signs and symptoms will be more efficiently managed. Unnecessary admissions, likewise, would be reduced by the MRI's higher sensitivity. Capabilities to diagnose and treat brain and spinal tumors and infections are improved with this "Gold Standard" technology. Expanded diagnostic capabilities with greater opportunities for early intervention are achieved with an onsite MRI unit.
Cardiology

GMH plans to fully implement a Cardiac Center Facility projected to generate an additional \$733,166 in gross patient revenue in the first year of operations and \$438,712 in net earnings in the third year.

Additional services to be provided include: left heart catheterization, right and left heart catheterization, transvenous pacemaker insertion, cardioversion, inpatient consultations, outpatient consultations, and coronary bypass graft surgery. The bulk of revenues from the new Cardiac Center shall be from left heart catheterizations with an anticipated 100 procedures at \$5,000 per procedure –totaling \$500,000 in gross revenue in the first year of operations. For the Cardiac Center, outpatient revenue assumptions are applied to all procedures except for two, namely pacemaker insertions and coronary artery bypass graft surgeries.

When funding is secured, GMH plans to invest \$2 million in a new cardiac catheterization machine. GMH currently maintains one 10-year-old cardiac catheterization lab machine that is being shared with interventional radiologists. As reflected on **Table 14**, after the first year, GMH projects the growth in procedures to double in its second year and taper to 3.75% on the fifth year.

Table 14 - Projected Cardiac Center Income (in \$1,000s)													
		Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5							
Gross Patient Revenue Less: Allowances	\$	733	1,540	2,425	2,546	2,642							
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP		(194)	(408)	(642)	(675)	(700)							
Other patients		(65)	(136)	(215)	(226)	(234)							
Self Pay		(36)	(76)	(120)	(126)	(131)							
Less: allowances		(296)	(621)	(978)	(1,027)	(1,065)							
Net Patient Revenue		438	919	1,447	1,520	1,577							
Operating costs		(970)	(989)	(1,009)	(1,029)	(1,050)							
Net Income	\$	(532)	(71)	438	490	527							

GMH's Perspective: The Clinical Case for Cardiac-Related Equipment

Echocardiogram Machine

In 2016, GMH's Special Services Department had provided about 1,500 echocardiogram studies to both adult and pediatric patients. An echocardiogram machine is used to examine the heart; measure the heart valves; assess the blood flow; check how strong a heart can pump blood etc. Some facts about heart disease according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention include the following:

- About 600,000 people die of heart disease in the United States every year and that is 1 in every 4 deaths
- Heart disease is still the leading cause of death for both men and women.
- Coronary heart disease is the most common type of heart disease, killing nearly 380,000 people annually.

- Every year about 720,000 Americans have a heart attack.
- Coronary heart disease alone costs the United States \$108.9 billion each year. This total includes the cost of health care services, medications and lost productivity.
- According to CDC (Centers for Disease Control):
 - The most common type of heart defect for infants is VSD (Ventricular Septal Defect).
 - CHDs (Congenital Heart Defects) are a leading cause of birth defect associated infant illness and death
 - Infant deaths due to CHDs often occur when the baby is less than 28 days. In a study of neonatal deaths, 4.2% of all neonatal deaths were due to CHD.

GMH's current echocardiogram machines (one in use since 2006) cannot produce the best quality images anymore. There are times when GMH's echocardiogram technologists had to repeat the studies in order to produce better images thereby creating delays in establishing diagnosis and treatment. For adult patients who have had a heart attack, it is the standard of care to have echocardiogram to determine the extent of a heart attack. In fact, there have been several instances in which multiple acute care units in GMH are calling for echocardiogram to be done on an emergency basis and clinicians have to make a choice as to who needs to be done first.

Coronary Angiogram (Cardiac Cath) Machine

In 2014, there were 1,288 patients who were seen in and/or admitted to GMH of which 759 were with a diagnosis of chest pain and 529 with myocardial infarction or ischemia (heart attack). Of these 529 patients, 324 were males and 205 were females with the following age groups:

- 51-65 y/o: 251 patients
- >75 y/o: 104 patients
- 66-75 y/o: 91 patients
- 31-50 y/o: 73 patients
- 18-30 y/o: 10 patients

In 2014, GMH had a total of 70 off island referrals (hospital-to-hospital transfer) and cardiovascular referrals ranked highest. **Cardiac disease is the leading cause of death on Guam.** With Guam's remote location and our aging population, it is difficult and costly for many to travel off island just to get cardiac catheterization.

This machine can also be used to insert a temporary pacemaker for patients whose heart rate drops to the 30's. GMH's current machine is already 11 years old and is shared for Interventional radiology procedures.

Intra-aortic Balloon Pump (IABP) Machine

In a recent incident, a patient that came in with a massive heart attack eventually went into cardiogenic shock. An IABP machine would have increased the oxygen, thereby increasing the blood flow.

Electroencephalogram (EEG) Machine

The EEG machine is used to check the electrical activity of the brain. Our current EEG machine is already 11 years old (since 2006). It is not even capable of doing a continuous EEG reading. There are some patients who need a continuous EEG reading to detect brain activity or the cause of seizures.

Electrocardiogram (EKG) Machine

The EKG machine is used to detect the electrical activity of the heart. In 2016, a total of 10,181 EKG's occurred at GMH. Use of such device is standard of care for all patients who complain of chest pain and the doctor is suspecting a heart attack. There are instances in which the use of EKG is called upon in more than three acute care units and the machines are only in two locations.

Addressing Staffing Needs

GMH recognizes the challenge of securing the requisite professional staff to support its expanded services. This is not an issue unique to GMH. During the three-year construction period, management plans to embark on activities which include in-house training of existing staff and off-island recruitment. Off-island recruitment may include engaging the services of specialized recruiting firms or, as needed, the application for foreign worker visas.

Creation of an Observation Unit & Impact on 3M Revenues

Creation of an Observation Unit will provide opportunities for increased revenues at reduced costs. Patients seen at GMH may not require admittance in the traditional sense but be treated and placed under observation in this new unit. The staffing currently exists to support the operation of the Observation Unit. This shift in patient care will create a more efficient system of care within GMH augmenting the creation of new centers for hospital-based outpatient services.

Procedures and diagnosis that can be done in the observational setting include cardiac catheterization, pacemaker placement, endoscopies, chemotherapy, infusion therapy, blood transfusions, and other ambulatory surgeries. Medical conditions that can be placed under observational status include chest pains (acute coronary syndromes), congestive heart failure (CHF), anemia, pneumonia, infections of the skin and soft tissues, and irregular heart beat requiring control or initial evaluation.

Procedures accompanying the applicable medical conditions can also lead to more revenues from services provided. These include echocardiograms, computed tomography, CXR, and labs. Pharmaceutical interventions may result in additional revenues due to patients potentially needing more medication while in the observation unit. Under the 3Ms, hospital-based outpatient reimbursement allows GMH to capture more revenues under the fee-for-service payment methodology as opposed to being reimbursed under the inpatient setting on a per diem rate, currently capped at \$1,186 per day.

By shifting admissions to the observation category, with an efficient healthcare team that assumes patient care immediately on presentation in the ER, many inpatient admissions currently falling within one to four-day inpatient stays may instead fall under the observational category. GMH intends to

create a healthcare team dedicated to efficiently provide observational services under the 2-midnight Medicare rule.¹⁵

Principles of the observational category are as follows:

- Increase reimbursement while providing greater efficiency in delivering quality care within evidence based guidelines for required inpatient admission.
- Reimbursement in the observation unit is considered as outpatient and reimbursable at 70-90% of allowable charges for the 3 M payers. Adjusting for billing and collection variables, conservatively, should realize 65% of revenue in collections.
- Case-Rate reimbursements are reimbursements that reward efficiency in the delivery of care with quality outcomes of patient safety and short length of stay.

GMH has established outpatient reimbursement fee schedules that allow fees for services billing. Outpatient ambulatory fee schedules capture a percentage of costs that should translate to reimbursement cost with income. **Table 15** provides an example of increased revenue with a shift to outpatient services.

ĺ		Table	15 - Projected	Revenue for 3Ms	Shift to Outpat	ient Services	Table 15 - Projected Revenue for 3Ms Shift to Outpatient Services														
	Fiscal Year	ar Patients with 1-4 Revenue days length of stay Collected		Audited Reimbursment Ratio	Projected % Collected Over Billed Ratio	Projected Revenue Shift to Observation Unit Services	Net Increase of Revenue														
	2014	\$ 2,093,158	\$ 915,183	43.72%	56%	\$ 1,179,990	\$ 264,807														
	2015	\$ 1,847,451	\$ 694,349	37.58%	56%	\$ 1,041,476	\$ 347,127														

GMH anticipates up to \$557,000 in additional revenue annually as a result of shifting certain inpatient admissions to the Observation Unit. A breakdown by year is provided on **Table 16**.

Table 16 - Outpatient Services for Me	Table 16 - Outpatient Services for Medicare, Medicaid & MIP Reimbursements (5 Year Projection)													
		Year 1		Year 2		Year 3		Year 4		Year 5				
Patients Received 1/		638		670		704		739		776				
Billed Amount (\$1,000's) 2/	\$	2,060	\$	2,163	\$	2,271	\$	2,385	\$	2,504				
Revenue Collected (\$1,000s) 3/	\$	702	\$	737	\$	774	\$	813	\$	854				
Anticipated Reimbursement Ratio for Observation Unit		56%		56%		56%		56%		56%				
Adjusted Revenue Collection w/ New Reimbursement Rate	\$	1,161	\$	1,219	\$	1,280	\$	1,344	\$	1,411				
Net Increase in Revenues (\$1,000s)	\$	459	\$	482	\$	506	\$	531	\$	557				

1/ Amount based on 5% increase of patients from FY 2015 due to new service.

2/ Amount based on average of billings per patient in FY 2014 (\$3,414.61) and FY 2015 (\$3,038.57). Average of the two fiscal years years is \$3,226.59.

3/ Based on the Medicare, Medicaid, and MIP reimbursement of \$1,100/day for each patient.

¹⁵ Inpatient admissions will generally be payable under Part A if the admitting practitioner expected the patient to require a hospital stay that crossed two midnights and the medical record supports that reasonable expectation. Medicare Part B payment is appropriate for hospital stays not expected to span at least two midnights. Medicare Part A covers inpatient care, including care received while in a hospital, a skilled nursing facility, and, in limited circumstances, at home.

Oncology Services

Guam cancer care requirements continue to increase as new treatment modalities continue to be developed. Hospital-based cancer care support must include a multidisciplinary approach between radiation, surgical, and medical oncology. A continuum of care between outpatient and inpatient is critical for oncology patients.

GMH plans to establish a comprehensive oncology center. Realizing the significant capital requirements in the state of the art delivery for patient care, GMH seeks to create a Public Private Partnership (PPP) option for comprehensive oncology care to include a radiation oncology service, a new surgery suite with emphasis on minimally invasive procedures for cancer treatment, and a Medical Oncology service that will support both inpatient and outpatient care.

The manner in which such services are delivered and managed under a PPP can vary and is therefore not analyzed in this paper. PPPs may involve a private proponent or developer to finance a new oncology center and be compensated with shared revenues. The manner in which these contractual arrangements are entered will be governed by Guam law and the Government of Guam's procurement rules and regulations –likely under a Request for Proposal-type of procurement.

Other New Services

In addition to interventional radiology, expanded diagnostic radiology, and cardiac services, GMH projects additional revenue generation in the areas of stroke, wound care, endoscopy, surgery and others. These revenues are meant to account for the activity stemming from the investments that are not related to radiology and cardiac services. These include \$13.5 million in furnishings, fixtures, and equipment. GMH projects about \$3.1 million in additional net patient revenue for such services growing at an annual rate of 2%. Less expenses of \$2.3 million, GMH stands to receive income of \$837,000. This amount is combined with increased revenues from the observation unit of \$459,000 for a total of about \$1.3 million under *Other new services* in the pro forma income statement beginning in 2021.

Leasing of Skilled Nursing Unit Facility (SNU)

GMH maintains the 36,928 square foot SNU facility at Barrigada Heights. Relocating the SNU back to GMH and leasing out the Barrigada Heights facility can generate additional revenue and reduce operating cost. The property also has parking areas that can be included in a lease arrangement. The current market rates for a commercial building rental are \$1.00 to \$4.00 per square foot.¹⁶ Applying an average \$3.00/sq. ft. rate will yield \$1,329,408 annually (\$110,784/month) in new revenue with the leasing of the SNU facility as shown on **Table 17**. GMH expects the rental rate to increase incrementally over time.

¹⁶ HMAT Report

	Table 17 - Skilled Nursing Unit Facility Revenue													
		Year 1		Year 2		Year 3		Year 4		Year 5				
Rate per square foot	\$	3.00	\$	3.00	\$	3.08	\$	3.15	\$	3.23				
Square feet		36,928		36,928		36,928		36,928		36,928				
Monthly Rent	\$	110,784	\$	110,784	\$	113,554	\$	116,392	\$	119,302				
Per year	\$	1,329,408	\$	1,329,408	\$	1,362,643	\$	1,396,709	\$	1,431,627				

Relocation of the SNU operations is dependent on the completion of the Family Birth Center project and space availability. For purposes of this business plan, SNU facility rental revenues can be realized upon completion of the Z-wing reconstruction and relocation of SNU facility.

Information Technology Modernization

Central to the hospital's clinical and revenue systems is an integrated information system. It is proposed to invest \$20 million in a fully integrated information system which will fulfill all the necessary requirements required by federal legislation and at the same time provide a portal for seamless transfer of clinical information to patients and patients' community medical support.

In early 2014, in compliance with the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA), GMH progressed from paper charts to electronic health records. Later in 2014, GMH replaced its 1995 Patient Information System maintained on an IBM AS400 system with Optimum Revenue Cycle Management (RCM) suite of programs which has a thin client interface.

These changes enabled GMH to achieve the incentive available for ARRA Meaningful Use 1 and to update its revenue cycle management providing improved billings and collections.

The current system is a collection of linked but discrete processes reflecting the limited funding available at the time for information technology investment. An integrated clinical, revenue and financial control package will improve the information available to clinicians, permit further enhancements to revenues, billings, and collection, increase the support for greater financial control and furnish up to date information for patient appointments, clinical data and financial obligations.

Cost Reduction Initiatives

In addition to specific revenue enhancements, GMH has under consideration a number of cost reduction initiatives.

Cooperative Purchasing

GMH should participate in Group Purchasing Organizations (GPOs) which can provide significant procurement discounts. A GPO is an entity that helps health care providers (such as hospitals, ambulatory care facilities, nursing homes and home health agencies) realize savings and efficiencies by aggregating purchasing volume and using that leverage to negotiate discounts with manufacturers, distributors and other vendors.¹⁷ GPOs include Novation, Amerinet, First Choice/First Link Coop

¹⁷ https://c.ymcdn.com/sites/www.supplychainassociation.org/resource/resmgr/research/gpo_primer.pdf

Management Services (FSM), NASPO ValuePoint (National Association of State Procurement Officials) and Premier. Stateside hospitals who are members of GPOs save 10% to 15% in pricing.¹⁸ GMH estimates it will save about 10% annually on its supplies and materials expense.

However, GMH is subject to local procurement laws, which may prohibit the organization's ability to participate in contracts for cooperative purchasing. GMH may need to seek changes in the procurement law and/or rules and regulations in order to participate in these organizations.

Telephone System Conversion

GMH spends about \$25,254 per month for 350 lines in its existing telephone system, \$303,048 annually. Converting this telephone system to voice over IP (VOIP) telephony can bring the monthly expense to as little as \$2,512 or \$30,898 annually. A total annual savings of at least \$272,000 can be realized. VOIP telephony is becoming the standard communications platform for organization of all sizes. The shift from traditional telephone systems to a feature-rich Hosted VOIP service has become the norm in business operations. Immediate cost savings is the most commonly cited benefit of adopting Hosted VOIP, along with increases in system reliability and worker productivity. These systems require very little on-premises equipment, and in most cases needed equipment is limited to a high-quality router, integrated access devices, and IP phones.

Information Systems Savings

GMH's current budget for (Information Technology) IT for various departments including patient affairs, patient registration, and medical records is collectively \$5 million. GMH management estimates savings ranging from 12 to 15% in each of these departments for a total of \$709,000. Additionally, GMH currently budgets \$1.5 million for MIS-related contractual services and anticipates a 20% or a \$301 thousand reduction to this amount. Lastly, savings of roughly \$500,000 could be achieved in personnel costs (inclusive of overtime) because of improved operational efficiencies. Total annual savings for IT-related costs is \$1.5 million.

SNU Integration into Main Facility

The transfer of the SNU to GMH's main hospital facility should result in increased operational efficiencies and reduced facility maintenance costs. GMH management estimates these operational efficiencies would result in a 15% reduction (\$396,000) in the SNU operational budget which currently stands at \$2.6 million. Whereas the SNU's facility budget of \$670,000 will be reduced by as much as 70%. Total savings at the SNU is estimated to be \$864,000.

Facility Maintenance

Coupled with better management strategies, newer facilities should require less maintenance. GMH's current budget stands at about \$3.5 million and management aims to reduce this cost by as much as 20%.

A breakdown of cost reductions is shown on **Table 18**.

¹⁸ http://www.supplychainassociation.org/?page=FAQ

Table 18 - Summary of Cost Reduction Initiatives (in \$1,000s)													
	Year 1	Year 2	Year 3	Year 4	Year 5	Year 6	Year 7	Year 8	Year 9	Year 10			
Cooperative Purchasing	\$ 1,486	1,522	1,560	1,598	1,638	1,679	1,721	1,764	1,809	1,824			
Information Technology System	1,510	1,540	1,571	1,603	1,635	1,667	1,701	1,735	1,769	1,805			
SNU Integration	864	882	899	917	936	954	973	993	1,013	1,033			
Maintenance Reduction	697	711	725	740	754	770	785	801	817	833			
Telephone Conversion	79	272	272	271	270	270	269	268	268	267			
Solar Power Generation	75	77	78	80	81	83	84	86	88	90			
Total	\$4,712	5,005	5,105	5,208	5,314	5,422	5,533	5,647	5,763	5,851			

Pro Forma Statements

A Summary of Net Earnings on Operations before Depreciation and Operating Losses is provided in **Table 19**. This provides historical and forecast earnings which illustrates the benefits of the investments.

The Pro forma Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, Balance Sheets, and Statements of Cash Flows to Operations are presented in the next several pages as **Table 20**, **Table 21 and Table 22**. These projections assume continuing operating and capital spending subsidies from the Government of Guam based on an increase in the Business Privilege Tax.

Table 19

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority

Summary of Net Earnings on Operations before Depreciation and Operating Losses (\$1,000's)

	Fiscal Year	Net Earnings on Operations before Depreciation	Operating Losses
Historical	1998	(594)	(4,389)
	1999	1,846	(1,422)
	2000	(3,732)	(6,952)
	2001	(3,532)	(7,064)
	2002	471	(3,292)
	2003	(7,650)	(11,357)
	2004	(7,287)	(10,970)
	2005	(14,582)	(18,076)
	2006	(8,196)	(12,093)
	2007	(10,733)	(15,129)
	2008	933	(3,245)
	2009	(1,389)	(5,816)
	2010	(16,554)	(21,136)
	2011	(31,082)	(35,935)
	2012	(13,479)	(17,879)
	2013	(29,347)	(33,771)
	2014	(20,161)	(24,511)
	2015	(21,213)	(25,841)
	2016	(24,128)	(29,249)
Forecast	2017	(16,111)	(21,061)
	2018	(20,351)	(25,651)
	2019	(20,584)	(26,027)
	2020	(13,856)	(19,446)
	2021	(10,382)	(28,284)
	2022	(3,974)	(25,031)
	2023	1,400	(22,316)
	2024	4,466	(20,913)
	2025	7,606	(19,941)
	2026	12,043	(17,677)

<u>Table 20</u>

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority

Pro forma Summarized Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (\$1,000's)

	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026
Net Patient Service Revenue:										
Existing services	\$ 93,489	99,492	101,259	105,371	109,642	114,076	118,682	123,464	128,431	133,588
Enhanced Service Centers	-	-	-	-	5,189	10,613	20,960	22,195	23,472	24,536
Additional services	 -				1,296	1,336	1,377	1,419	1,463	1,509
Total net patient revenue:	93,489	99,492	101,259	105,371	116,126	126,025	141,018	147,079	153,366	159,633
Other Operating Revenues:										
Existing services	3,856	3,928	4,002	4,076	4,153	4,230	4,309	4,390	4,472	4,556
Rental income from SNU facility	 -				1,329	1,329	1,363	1,397	1,432	1,467
Total	 3,856	3,928	4,002	4,076	5,482	5,560	5,672	5,787	5,904	6,024
Total Operating Revenues	 97,345	103,421	105,261	109,448	121,608	131,585	146,691	152,866	159,270	165,657
Operating Expenses:										
Existing Services	118,407	120,071	121,568	123,107	124,692	126,323	128,001	129,727	131,505	132,318
Enhanced Service Centers	-	-	-	-	6,707	7,993	15,329	15,922	16,544	17,038
Clinical staffing & recruitment		9,000	9,720	10,498	11,337	12,244	13,224	14,282	15,424	16,350
New Z-wing and related depreciation	-	-	-	-	12,161	15,161	17,661	19,161	21,161	23,161
Cost reduction initiatives	 -	-		(4,712)	(5,005)	(5,105)	(5,208)	(5,314)	(5,422)	(5,533)
Cost reductions from investment	 -		-							
Total Operating Expenses	 118,407	129,071	131,288	128,893	149,893	156,615	169,006	173,778	179,211	183,334
Operating (loss) gain	 (21,061)	(25,651)	(26,027)	(19,446)	(28,284)	(25,031)	(22,316)	(20,913)	(19,941)	(17,677)
Government contributions:										
Operational subsidies	18,823	3,833	3,910	3,988	4,068	4,149	4,232	4,317	4,403	4,491
BPT tax increase subsidy	-	39,000	39,780	40,576	41,387	42,215	43,059	43,920	44,799	45,695
New facilities (Z-wing & other CIP's)	-	12,500	37,500	37,500	37,500	-	-	-	-	-
Other non-operating revenues	 3,727	3,728	3,729	3,560	3,732	3,733	7,564	7,412	(2,733)	7,127
Change in net position	\$ 1,488	33,411	58,893	66,178	58,403	25,067	32,539	34,737	26,528	39,636
Net position at the beginning of the year	 (59,641)	(58,153)	(24,742)	34,151	100,328	158,731	183,798	216,337	251,074	277,602
Net position at the end of the year	\$ (58,153)	\$ (24,742)	\$ 34,151	\$ 100,328	\$ 158,731	\$ 183,798	\$ 216,337	\$ 251,074	\$ 277,602	\$ 317,238

Table 21

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority Pro forma Summarized Balance Sheets (\$1,000's)

	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026
ASSETS & DEFERRED OUTFOWS OF RESOURCES										
Current assets:										
Cash & cash equivalents	\$ 3,925	11,690	20,128	21,198	28,570	31,836	37,371	56,143	77,215	110,167
Receivables & other current assets	31,339	33,295	33,887	35,235	37,385	38,743	46,520	50,115	50,279	45,350
Inventories	 3,473	3,833	7,743	14,591	22,655	29,517	31,288	33,165	35,155	37,264
Total current assets	 38,737	48,818	61,758	71,024	88,610	100,096	115,179	139,423	162,649	192,781
Capital assets	 35,814	52,595	98,352	137,562	172,161	186,104	199,388	205,008	216,461	217,241
Deferred outflows of resources:										
Deferred outflows from pension	10,210	7,210	4,210	1,210	-	-	-	-	-	-
Deferred outflows from operations	 9,456	1,690								-
Total deferred outflows	 19,666	8,900	4,210	1,210		-		-		-
Total assets & deferred outflows of resources	\$ 94,217	110,313	164,320	209,796	260,771	286,200	314,567	344,431	379,110	410,022
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS & NET POSITION										
Current liabilities	\$ 18,454	10,968	15,911	5,039	7,440	7,631	7,288	6,091	7,770	2,434
Long-term liabilities including pension liability	 133,916	124,087	114,258	104,429	94,600	94,771	90,942	87,266	93,738	90,350
Total liabilities	 152,370	135,055	130,169	109,468	102,040	102,402	98,230	93,357	101,508	92,784
Deferred inflows from pension	 					<u> </u>	<u> </u>		<u> </u>	
Net position										
Net investment in capital assets	35,814	52,595	98,352	137,562	172,161	186,104	199,388	205,008	216,461	217,241
Unrestricted	 (93,967)	(77,337)	(64,201)	(37,234)	(13,430)	(2,306)	16,949	46,066	61,141	99,997
Total Net position	 (58,153)	(24,742)	34,151	100,328	158,731	183,798	216,337	251,074	277,602	317,238
Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position	\$ 94,217	110,313	164,320	209,796	260,771	286,200	314,567	344,431	379,110	410,022

<u>Table 22</u>

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority Pro forma Summarized Statements of Cash Flows (\$1,000's)

	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026
Operating (loss)/income	\$ (21,061)	(25,651)	(26,027)	(19,446)	(28,284)	(25,031)	(22,316)	(20,913)	(19,941)	(17,677)
Add back depreciation (existing facility)	4,950	5,300	5,443	5,590	5,741	5,896	6,055	6,219	6,387	6,559
Add back depreciation for New Z-wing and other	-	-	-	-	12,161	15,161	17,661	19,161	21,161	23,161
Movement working capital	 8,500	(1,087)	(2,204)	(21,320)	(11,532)	(7,109)	(5,297)	(2,384)	(6,498)	155
Operating cash flow	(7,611)	(21,438)	(22,787)	(35,176)	(21,915)	(11,083)	(3,897)	2,083	1,108	12,198
Operating subsidies:	18,823	3,833	3,910	3,988	4,068	4,149	4,232	4,317	4,403	4,491
BPT tax increase subsidy	-	39,000	39,780	40,576	41,387	42,215	43,059	43,920	44,799	45,695
Capital Expenditures (ongoing)	(4,500)	(5,331)	(7,000)	(14,000)	(15,000)	(35,000)	(37,000)	(31,000)	(39,000)	(30,500)
Capital Expenditures for new Z-wing and other projects	-	(12,500)	(37,500)	(37,500)	(37,500)	-	-	-	-	-
Capital Expenditures for new birth center	-	(750)	(4,250)	(6,700)	-	-	-	-	-	-
Capital Grants ongoing	2,079	1,530	2,364	2,511	2,661	2,814	2,969	3,128	3,290	3,456
Capital grants for new Z-wing	-	12,500	37,500	37,500	37,500	-	-	-	-	-
Capital grants for new birth center	-	750	4,250	6,700	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other movements	 (6,750)	(9,829)	(7,829)	3,171	(3,829)	171	(3,829)	(3,676)	6,471	(2,388)
Net Cash Flow	\$ 2,041	7,766	8,438	1,070	7,372	3,266	5,534	18,772	21,071	32,952

The underlying assumptions for these statements are presented in **Appendix E**.

The pro forma Return on Investment is shown on **Appendix F**. This pro-forma forecasts a positive discounted cash flow of \$40 million with an internal rate of return of 27%. This contrasts with an expected significant cash requirement over the same period, if the investment is not made.

Conclusion

Investment in substantial capital improvements to hospital facilities, a stable and dedicated funding source to permanently address the difficulties caused by uncompensated car, underinsured services, and underpayments and a renewed focus by hospital management toward improving operational efficiencies, will provide a significant improvement at GMH and for healthcare on Guam over the next 10 years.

Central to GMH's plan is the expansion of patient centered care with an emphasis on reducing the incidence and duration of stays and offering a broad array of hospital-based services that strengthen the continuity of care. Through facility expansion, the availability of more hospital-based outpatient services will improve the hospital's financial position resulting from cost avoidance and a better reimbursement opportunity. This is illustrated in this plan's pro forma statements which point to gradual and steady reduction in operating losses before depreciation and improved cash flow. This is because there is a direct correlation between investments in the hospital's capacity to deliver services and operational improvements –particularly in revenue generation and patient care cost efficiency.

The mission of GMH is to provide patient care in a safe environment. In carrying out this mission, GMH continues to strive to provide care, conforming to the highest possible standard. This is a commitment to all of Guam's people regardless of whether they can afford to pay for those services. No other healthcare provider on Guam is tasked with such responsibility. GMH management does not see this as mere justification for government subsidy and investment, but as a challenge that can be overcome with focused planning and fostering a work culture which recognizes that improvements in service delivery will result in a better financial position for the hospital.

Appendix A. Patient Statistics

	Year	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb	Mar	Apr	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Total
	FY 2017	1,726	1,272	1,354	1,383	1,202	1,347	1,209	1,312					10,805
Emergency Room Visits	FY 2016	1,886	1,890	1,623	1,512	1,475	1,590	1,397	1,411	1,213	1,264	1,345	1,528	18,134
Emergency Room visits	FY 2015*	2,826	2,558	2,393	2,160	1,819	1,807	1,788	1,972	1,751	1,864	1,956	1,985	24,879
	FY 2014	2,513	2,456	2,339	2,279	2,129	2,224	2,124	2,207	2,237	2,288	2,297	2,466	27,559
	FY 2017	275	215	240	232	224	272	240	265					1,963
Emergency Room Visits Admitted for Inpatient	FY 2016	369	340	280	304	298	304	303	293	252	265	269	264	3,541
Services	FY 2015	417	389	405	383	350	365	323	390	343	378	406	342	4,491
	FY 2014	422	362	361	374	357	362	345	395	372	392	410	396	4,548
	FY 2017	341	358	385	416	304	405	329	358					2,896
Urgent Care Visits	FY 2016	424	393	341	320	304	309	454	295	247	285	303	333	4,008
	FY 2015				131	294	355	352	302	362	326	370	475	2,967
	FY 2017	788	663	735	794	658	750	629	625					5,642
lumetient Administra (NAIC	FY 2016	990	910	881	886	770	822	779	771	796	754	816	782	9,957
Inpatient Admissions (MIS extract)	FY 2015	1,050	1,022	1,054	1,020	929	930	863	997	822	920	1,010	1,018	11,635
exildery	FY 2014	1,092	1,069	981	1,004	914	938	863	916	911	984	1,042	1,063	11,777
	FY 2013	1,082	1,046	1,028	1,024	858	924	890	994	873	994	948	1,001	11,662
	FY 2017	4,500	4,053	4,053	4,289	3,608	4,039	3,756	3,880					32,178
	FY 2016	5,576	4,996	4,767	4,718	3,990	4,239	4,121	4,408	4,546	4,344	4,669	4,549	54,923
Inpatient Days**	FY 2015	5,338	5,467	5,359	5,703	5,167	5,352	5,229	5,714	4,769	4,641	5,448	5,534	63,721
	FY 2014	5,061	5,089	4,813	4,806	4,474	4,901	4,506	4,749	4,590	5,466	5,353	4,956	58,764
	FY 2013	5,172	5,415	5,117	4,839	4,428	5,036	4,683	5,014	4,592	4,707	4,604	4,349	57,956
	FY 2017	2,446	2,021	2,108	2,208	1,949	2,262	2,013	2,120					17,127
Outpatient Count	FY 2016	2,783	2,747	2,486	2,418	2,238	2,318	2,092	2,086	1,878	1,861	2,082	2,256	27,245
	FY 2015	5,025	5,546	3,528	2,687	2,558	2,636	2,658	2,713	2,657	2,715	3,069	3,110	38,902

*Emergency room visits decline in the months of Feb. 2015 and after the opening and ramp up of Urgent Care Center.

**Patient days sourced from Medical Records Department, whereas the months of October through January in FY 2015 based on raw admissions data.

Appendix B. GMH Physicians Contracted

GMH Physicians on Contract	
Specialty/Area	Count
Anesthesia	4
Cardiologist	2
CRNA	3
Emergency Medicine	1
Emergency Medicine/Locums/Short-term	1
Family Medicine - DOC	1
General Surgery	4
Intensivist/Critical Care	1
Internal Medicine	1
Internal Medicine-Hospitalist/FT	2
Internal Medicine-Hospitalist/Short term Locums	1
Internal Medicine-Hospitalist/Short-term Locums	1
Medical Consultant/DOC	1
Neurologist	1
Ob/Gyn- PT/Hospitalist	1
Orthopedics - On Call	2
Pathologist- PT	1
Pediatric-Hospitalist PT	5
Podiatry- PT/Hospitalist	3
Radiology- IR/PT	2
Radiology-DR/PT	3
Urgent Care/Locums/Temporary	1
Urgent Care/PT	1
Urgent care/PT ER/DOC	1
Urologist	1
Grand Total	45

Appendix C. Provider Credentialing Breakdown

Department	Specialty	Active	Provisional	Courtesv	Active	Temporary	Full Allied Health	Allied Health	Grand
	Specialty			countesy	Associate	Privileges	Professional	Provisional	Total
Anesthesia	Anesthesiology	5							5
	Certified Registered Nurse Anesthetist						2	7	9
_	Emergency Medicine	13	1			1			15
Emergency	Family Medicine	2							2
Medicine	Family Practice		3						3
Department	Internal Medicine	1							1
	Urgent Care, Emergency Medicine		1						1
Family/General	Family Medicine	3	1						4
Practice	Family Practice	6	1						7
	Cardiology	1	1		3				5
	Cardiology, Internal Medicine	1							1
	Endocrinology	1							1
	Endocrinology, Internal Medicine	1							1
	Hematology/Oncology			1					1
Medicine	Infectious Disease	1							1
	Infectious Disease, Internal Medicine	1							1
	Internal Medicine	16	6			3			25
	Internal Medicine, Hematology/Oncology		2						2
	Nephrology	4							4
	Pulmonary/Critical Care	1							1
	Radiology, Nuclear Medicine				1				1
Obstetrics &	Certified RN Midwife						3	2	5
Gynecology	Obstetrics & Gynecology	11	2						13
Gynecology	Physicians Assistant						3		3
	Critical Care Medicine		1						1
	Neonatology	1							1
	Pediatic Cardiology, Pediatrics		1						1
Pediatrics	Pediatric Hematology/Oncology		1						1
	Pediatric Pulmonology, Pediatrics	1							1
	Pediatrics	11	1		1	1			14
	Pediatrics, Adolescent Medicine	1							1
Radiology	Interventional Radiology	1				1			2
Hadiology	Radiology	5			1				6
	General Surgery	7	4						11
	General Surgery, Hand Surgery	1							1
	General Surgery, Surgical Critical Care	1							1
	Hand Surgery	1							1
	Neurosurgery	1							1
	Ophthalmology	2			1				3
	Oral/Maxillofacial Surg.	1							1
Surgery	Orthopaedics	2	2						4
	Otolaryngology	1							1
	Pathology		1						1
	Pathology, Hematopathology	1							1
	Plastic Surgery, General Surgery	1							1
	Podiatry	2	2						4
	Thoracic Surgery, General Surgery	1							1
	Urology	2	1						3
	Grand Total	112	32	1	7	6	8	9	175

Source: GMH Medical Staff Office

GMHA Z-Wing Removal & Replacment Project's Estimated FF&E Needs

Total of ~ \$37M as of April 2017

OR Suite Relocation & Upgrade Fl				Funding				
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments	
Specialized Medical Equipment (e.g., Scopes, Systems, Instrument Packages, Specialized Lighting, Examination and Procedures Tables, other Medical Equipment and Furnishings to support GMNA's full array of Surgical Services to include costs for Neurosurgical Procedures at \$2.5M, etc.).	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	6,000,000	6,000,000		Needed FF&E Package to relocate and upgrade GMHA's Hospital Operating Suite.	

Subtotal: \$6,000,000

Telemetry Unit Relocation & Upgrad		Line in Balance		Funding				
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments	
FF&E Package to move/renovate GMHA's Telemetry Unit to 2nd Floor at existing OR (across from ICU) for enhanced special care (high acuity) services between the ICU and Telemetry Units.	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	3,500,000	\$3,500,000	TBD	Needed FF&E and Supplies Package to relocate and upgrade GMHA's Hospital Telemetry Unit. The <u>Progressive Care Unit</u> (PCU) currently located within the existing Telemetry Unit will also be relocated to the ICU in order to more effectively utilize all available beds within the ICU.	
			\$3,500,000					

Laboratory Department Expansion & Upg				Funding			
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments
Laboratory Information System (LIS) Upgrade	1 Lot	2011	7-10 yrs.	2,000,000	\$2,000,000		The Hospital LIS will need to be upgraded during this Hospital Expansion.
Laboratory FFE Package	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	2,000,000	\$2,000,000		Needed FF&E Package to expand and upgrade GMHA's Hospital Laboratory Department.

Subtotal: \$4,000,000

Radiology Department Expansion & Up	grade FF	&E				Funding	
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments
Digital MRI Room (Design / Renovation / Equipment Purchase)	1	N/A	5 yrs.	4,000,000	\$4,000,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. no longer provides MRI Services. Therefore, we need to plan for developing this much needed service inside GMH, as previous services provided outside GMH at Parking Lot Area adjacent to TDC.
Digital Interventional Radiology Machine/System	1	N/A	7 yrs.	2,000,000	2,000,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. will need to plan for the procurement its 1st Interventional Radiology System at GMH.
Digital Stationary X-ray Systems (w/ Flouroscopy Capability)	2	2006 & 2009	7 yrs.	750,000	1,500,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. has two old Flouroscopy Systems that need to be replaced in the near future.
Digital Nuclear Medicine Machine	1	2009	7 yrs.	1,200,000	1,200,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. has a used Nuclear Medicine Machine that will need to be replace in the near future.
Specialized Fixtures & Furnishings (all Radiology Areas)	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	1,000,000	1,000,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. Expansion Fixtures & Furnishings Package.
Digital C-Arm Systems	2	2009	7 yrs.	200,000	400,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. needs two (2) C-Arm Systems to meet its demand for such technology and associated services.
Digital Portable X-Ray Units	2	N/A	7 yrs.	200,000	400,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. needs two (2) Portable X-Ray Units in order to provide X-Ray Services bedside hospital-wide.
Digital Anesthesia System	1	N/A	7 yrs.	250,000	250,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. needs one (1) Digital Anesthesia System.
Digital Dexa Bone Scan System	1	N/A	7 yrs.	150,000	150,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. needs one (1) Dexa Bone Scan System.
Digital Vascular Interventional Radiology System	1	N/A	7 yrs.	150,000	150,000	TBD	Radiology Dept. needs one (1) Vascular Interventional Radiology System.
				Culturated	644 050 000		•

Subtotal: \$11,050,000

Special Services Department Expansion & L	Jpgrade	FF&E				Funding	
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Price Total Price		Other Comments
FF&E Package for Neurology, Stroke and Wound Care Center (to include Hyperbaric Chamber Capabilities/Capacities)	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	4,000,000	\$4,000,000	TBD	Special Services will need to plan for the replacement of its existing Cardiac Catheterization System which has supassed its useful life.
Digital Cardiac Catheterization Machine/System	1	N/A	7 yrs.	2,000,000	2,000,000	TBD	Special Services needs to plan for replacement of its existing, Cardiac Catheterization System which has supassed its estimated useful life.
Fixtures & Furnishings for Special Services Department	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	1,500,000	1,500,000	TBD	Special Services requires a variety of medical fixtures, furnishings, and supplies
Digital Echocardiogram Machines (3D or 4D Type)	1	2006	5 yrs.	200,000	200,000	TBD	Special Services needs to replace it two (2) Echocardiogram Machines.
Digital EEG Machine	1	2005	5 yrs.	100,000	100,000	TBD	Special Services Dept. needs to replace its EEG Machine.
Digital EKG Machines	3	2008	7 yrs.	33,000	100,000	TBD	Special Services Dept. needs to replace its three (3) EKG MachineS.
Intra Aortic Baloon Pump (IABP)	1	N/A	7 yrs.	50,000	50,000	TBD	Special Services needs to replace its three (3) EKG MachineS.
				Subtotal:	\$7,950,000		

Z-Wing Medical Arts and Administrative (Funding				
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments	
FF&E Package for Z-Wing Medical Arts and Administrative Offices	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	3,000,000	\$3,000,000		FF&E Package required for completing the Z-Wing Medical Arts (clinical spaces) & Administrative Offices.	

Middle Courtyard (Firs. 1-4) and Front Courtyard (<u>&E</u>			Funding				
Item	Qty	Date of Purchase	Useful Life	Unit Price	Total Price	Source	Other Comments	
FF&E Package for Middle Courtyard (Flrs. 1-4)	1 Lot	N/A	N/A	1,500,000	1,500,000	TBD	FF&E Package required for completing the Middle Courtyard Infill Project (Firs. 1-4).	
		\$1,500,000						

Grandtotal: <u>\$37,000,000</u>

Appendix E. Pro Forma Assumptions

Net Patient Revenues & Allowances

For existing services, to calculate net patient revenues, projected gross patient revenues are first calculated using actual FY 2016 gross revenues per inpatient day and outpatient visit (including emergency room visits) and applying an annual growth rate of 1%. FY 2016 gross patient revenues and census data are used to reflect the most recent GMH fee schedule. Based on this data, there was a total of 54,923 inpatient days charged at an average of \$2,241 in gross charges per inpatient day. There was also a total of 27,245 outpatient visits with an average of \$1,217 in gross charges per visit.

The charges are assumed to increase at a rate of 5% every two years or 2.5% annually. Although GMH is statutorily authorized to increase rates by up to 5%, resistance from commercial insurers will moderate the maximum fee escalation realized. These rates are then multiplied by GMH's projection of inpatient days and outpatient visits to arrive at projected gross revenue:

	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026
Inpatient Days	55,472	56,027	56,587	57,153	57,725	58,302	58,885	59,474	60,068	60,669
Outpatient Visits	27,517	27,793	28,071	28,351	28,635	28,921	29,210	29,502	29,797	30,095

Gross patient revenues for new services are based on each center's projections as explained in an earlier section.

To project the final net patient revenue numbers, GMH applies allowances for contractual adjustments and bad debts based on its historical payer mix and collection rates. Allowances have been based on the following payer mix (of total revenue) and allowance assumptions:

Payer Type	Hospita	l Wide*	Outpat	tient**	Inpatient**		
	Payer mix	Allowance	Payer mix	Allowance	Payer mix	Allowance	
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP	55.7%	54.3%	58.3%	43.6%	61.3%	56.6%	
Commercial Insurance	27.5%	14.3%	35.2%	25.9%	27.1%	26.3%	
Self Pay	16.8%	55.2%	6.6%	65.6%	11.7%	85.6%	

*Three-year averages based on audited financials through FY 2016.

** Based on three-year average of non-emergent outpatient and non-SNF inpatient service billing data through FY 2016.

The figures above represent three-year averages through FY 2016. Hospital-wide assumptions are averages of actual payer mix and allowance rates based on GMH's audited financial statement in FY 2014, 2015 and 2016. To account for efficiencies in billings and collections achieved through modernization and the shift to outpatient services, the allowance for Medicare, Medicaid and MIP for existing services is reduced by about one percent annually.

The outpatient payer mix and allowance assumptions, based on detailed unaudited charge data, are applied to a portion of the new Enhanced Service Centers for MRI and Interventional Radiology services. For the new Cardiac Center, outpatient payer assumptions applied to all services, except for transvenous pacemaker insertions and coronary artery bypass graft surgeries to which inpatient assumptions are applied. Hospital wide assumptions are applied to GMH's existing services. Revenues for the observation unit and for other new services were calculated using separate assumptions.

TEFRA Adjustments

Calculated separately but deducted from contractual adjustments are amounts GMH expects to receive for retrospective adjustments to its reimbursements from CMS for services provided to Medicare patients. Historically, these amounts average \$3 million per year. However, the projection for TEFRA adjustment is a conservative \$2 million figure in 2017 with an annual growth of 2%.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses for existing services are projected based on a 2% annual inflation adjustment and adjusted patient days. From FY 2010 to FY 2015, the average annual increase in operating expenses was 1.57%. However, the nominal increase is primarily related to direct patient care. Further, each expense category is assigned a variability factor to account for changes in adjusted patient days. The higher the variability factor, the more expense projection is sensitive to the changes. Expense categories that may be variable with adjusted patient days include but are not limited to over-time, contractual services, and supplies. The operating expenses for the new radiology and cardiology services (inclusive of the new cardiac catheterization machine) are based on projections by GMH radiology and cardiac staff.

Government Contributions and other Non-operating Revenues

Contributions from the government of Guam are in the form of direct subsidies appropriated by the Legislature or other forms of contributed capital. As of September 2016, GMH received \$22.2 million in proceeds from a \$45 million bond issued by the Government of Guam in FY 2016. This amount is reflected in the results for FY 2016 and accounts for the substantial increase in government transfers that year. For FY 2017, the Legislature appropriated \$30.3 million to GMH. This includes \$15.3 million from the Guam Memorial Hospital Authority Pharmaceutical Fund¹⁹ and \$15 million from proceeds from a bond issued in FY 2016. Under Guam law, 75% of pharmaceutical fund appropriations are a match under the Medicaid program administered by the government. Thus, the match will be recognized in GMH's operating patient revenues as payments for patient care and the \$18.8 million subsidy will be reported as non-operating revenues.

¹⁹ 11 GCA Sec. 26208

A breakdown of Legislative appropriation by fiscal year from 2015 to 2017 is provided as follows:

		Fiscal Year 20	15	
Funding Source	Appr	FY 2015 opriation (P.L. 32-181)	Medicaid Matching Revenue	Effective FY 2016 Appropriation
Pharmacuetical Fund	\$	9,891,947	(7,418,960)	2,472,987
Healthy Futures Fund		3,940,936	-	3,940,936
General Fund		6,335,160		6,335,160
Total Appropriation	\$	20,168,043	(7,418,960)	12,749,083

		Fiscal Year 20	16	
Funding Source	Арр	FY 2016 ropriation (P.L. 33-66)	Medicaid Matching Revenue	Effective FY 2016 Appropriation
Pharmacuetical Fund	\$	15,333,085	(11,499,814)	3,833,271
Healthy Futures Fund		6,367,283	-	6,367,283
General Fund		-		
Total Appropriation	\$	21,700,368	(11,499,814)	10,200,554

		Fiscal Year 20	17	
Funding Source	Арр	FY 2017 ropriation (P.L. 33-185)	Medicaid Matching Revenue	Effective FY 2017 Appropriation
Pharmacuetical Fund Healthy Future Funds	\$ \$	15,291,111 -	(11,468,333) -	3,822,778
Bond Proceeds General Fund		15,000,000 	-	15,000,000
Total Appropriation	\$	30,291,111	(11,468,333)	18,822,778

For FY 2018, GMH is requesting approximately \$36 million in subsidies from the Legislature. However, \$11 million is the average for FY 2014 through FY 2016, accounting for Medicaid matches and not including funds sourced from bond or loan proceeds from the government. This plan assumes \$39 million adjusted for inflation as the government subsidy for 2018 onwards. This is the amount reserved from BPT receipts to GMH under a bill introduced by the Governor of Guam.

All other non-operating revenues assumed a 2% annual growth rate with the exception of investments in new capital improvements including a new Family Birth Center and specific improvements featured in this paper –which are considered contributions from the government and are reflected in FY 2018 through FY 2021.

Appendix F. Return on Investment Analysis

	Operating									
	Cash	Normal	Cash flow	Costs			Net	Discount		
Year	flow	<u>cash flow¹</u>	from investment	avoided ²	Investment	<u>BPT Subsidy</u>	cash flow	<u>rate³</u>	factor	DCF
1	(7,611)	(25,822)	18,211	5,000	-	-	23,211	6	1.000	23,211
2	(21,438)	(25,822)	4,384	-	(12,500)	39,000	30,884	6	0.943	29,124
3	(22,787)	(25,822)	3,035	-	(37,500)	39,780	(34,465)	6	0.890	(30,674)
4	(35,176)	(25,822)	(9,354)	-	(37,500)	40,576	(46,854)	6	0.840	(39,357)
5	(21,915)	(25,822)	3,907	-	(37,500)	41,387	(33,593)	6	0.792	(26,605)
6	(11,083)	(25,822)	14,739	-	-	42,215	14,739	6	0.747	11,010
7	(3,897)	(25,822)	21,925	-	-	43,059	21,925	6	0.705	15,457
8	2,083	(25,822)	27,905	-	-	43,920	27,905	6	0.665	18,557
9	1,108	(25,822)	26,930	-	-	44,799	26,930	6	0.627	16,885
10	12,198	(25,822)	38,020			45,695	38,020	6	0.592	22,508
Total	<u>(108,518)</u>	(258,220)	149,702	5,000	(125,000)	380,431	68,702			40,115
IRR		27%								

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority Pro forma Return on Investment (\$1,000's)

¹ Based on the average of the most recent five years

² Without the project expenditure, Z-wing would have to be demolished at an estimated cost of \$5,000,000

³ S&P Municipal Bond Guam General Obligation Index YTM (6/8/17) - 5.93% (say 6%)

Appendix G. Enhanced Service Centers Schedule of Revenues

	Schedule of	Additional	Revenues f	rom Enhanc	ed Service (Centers (\$1,	,000's)			
	2021	2022	2023	2024	2025	2026	2027	2028	2029	2030
Gross Patient Revenue:										
Interventional Radiology	\$ 7,524	15,048	31,601	33,181	34,840	36,146	37,502	38,908	40,367	41,881
MRI Facility	1,825	3,833	6,036	6 <i>,</i> 338	6,655	6,904	7,163	7,432	7,710	8,000
Cardiology	733	1,540	2,425	2,546	2,642	2,741	2,844	2,950	3,061	3,176
Total gross revenue	10,082	20,420	40,062	42,065	44,136	45,791	47,509	49,290	51,138	53 <i>,</i> 056
Less: Allowances:										
Medicare, Medicaid, & MIP	(3,262)	(6 <i>,</i> 533)	(12,718)	(13,220)	(13,740)	(14,124)	(14,524)	(14,942)	(15,377)	(15 <i>,</i> 830)
Other patients	(769)	(1,572)	(3,106)	(3,289)	(3 <i>,</i> 479)	(3 <i>,</i> 638)	(3,801)	(3,971)	(4,146)	(4,328)
Self Pay	(863)	(1,702)	(3,278)	(3 <i>,</i> 360)	(3,445)	(3,494)	(3,545)	(3,600)	(3 <i>,</i> 658)	(3,720)
Total allowances	(4,894)	(9,807)	(19,102)	(19,870)	(20,664)	(21,255)	(21,871)	(22,513)	(23,181)	(23,878)
Net Patient Revenue	5,189	10,613	20,960	22,195	23,472	24,536	25,638	26,777	27,957	29,178
Operating costs:										
IR Facility	(3,879)	(5,008)	(12,306)	(12 <i>,</i> 859)	(13,440)	(13 <i>,</i> 897)	(14,371)	(14,864)	(15,374)	(15,904)
MRI Facility	(1,858)	(1,996)	(2,014)	(2 <i>,</i> 034)	(2,054)	(2 <i>,</i> 070)	(2 <i>,</i> 087)	(2,105)	(2,123)	(2,142)
Cardiology	(970)	(989)	(1,009)	(1,029)	(1,050)	(1,071)	(1,092)	(1,114)	(1,137)	(1,159)
Total operating costs	(6,707)	(7,993)	(15,329)	(15,922)	(16,544)	(17,038)	(17,551)	(18,083)	(18,634)	(19,205)
Net Income	\$ (1,519)	2,620	5 <i>,</i> 630	6,273	6,929	7,498	8,087	8,695	9,323	9,973

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority

Appendix H. Historical Balance Sheets

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority (A Component Unit of the Government of Guam)

Comparative Balance Sheets (\$1,000's) Years Ended September 30

100575	20	012	2013	2014	2015	2016
<u>ASSETS</u> Current assets:				(as restated)		
Cash	Ś	1,643	3,600	3,199	57	1,884
Patient accounts receivable, net of estimated uncollectibles		32,742	20,853	21,578	21,323	22,266
Due from the Government of Guam		1,237	662	2,218	80	7,850
Other receivables, net of allowance for doubtful accounts		0	319	331	-	-
Inventory		3,385	3,330	3,537	4,173	3,487
Prepaid expenses		100	164	67	300	136
Total current assets	3	39,107	28,929	30,930	25,933	35,622
Note receivable		192	161	128	94	57
Capital assets:						
Depreciable assets, net	3	33,027	31,485	30,558	35,239	34,294
Construction in progress		4,172	8,698	10,379	3,616	1,163
Restricted cash		209	209	209	209	-
Total noncurrent assets	3	37,600	40,553	41,275	39,158	35,514
Deferred outflows of resources:						
Deferred outflows from pension		-	-	11,552	13,406	16,210
Total assets and deferred outflows of resources	\$7	76,707	69,482	83,757	78,498	87,347
LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION						
Current liabilities:						
Current portion of note payable		542	814	2,027	2,133	-
Accounts payable - trade	1	L9,941	20,211	10,029	16,279	3,580
Accounts payable - Government of Guam Retirement Fund		2,578	1,972	1,993	2,183	1,978
Accrued taxes and related liabilities		4,998	5,760	6,173	6,691	14
Accrued payroll and benefits		1,620	3,998	4,173	2,405	2,658
Unearned revenues		-	3,600	-	50	893
Current portion of accrued annual leave		1,617	1,613	1,640	1,690	1,750
Other current liabilities		2,644	3,365	3,078	3,583	2,635
Total current liabilities	3	33,939	41,333	29,114	35,014	13,507
	1		0.020	21 506	10.462	
Note payable, net of current portion Accrued annual leave, net of current portion		L0,751 2,076	9,939 2,159	21,596 2,262	19,463 2,261	- 2,118
Accrued sick leave		3,065	3,459	3,647	4,211	4,328
Net pension liability		5,005	- 3,433	116,455	4,211	4,328
Total noncurrent liabilities	4	19,832	56,891	173,073	168,695	146,988
Deferred inflows of resources:				6.061	0.464	
Deferred inflows from pension		-		6,961	9,461	-
Net position:	~	7 1 0 0	40.402	40.007		
Net investment in capital assets		37,198	40,183	40,937	38,855	35,457
Unrestricted		10,323)	(27,592)	(137,214)	(138,513)	(95,099)
Total net position	2	26,875	12,591	(96,277)	(99,658)	(59,642)
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net						
position	<u>\$</u> 7	76,707	69,482	83,757	78,498	87,347

Appendix I. Historical Income Statements

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority (A Component Unit of the Government of Guam)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (\$1,000's) Years Ended September 30

Operating revenues: Net patient service revenue (net of contractual adjustments and provision for bad debts \$ 84,078 69,262 79,649 83,653 95,065 Other operating revenues: -			2012	2013 (2014 as restated)	2015	2016
provision for bad debts \$ 84,078 69,262 79,649 83,653 95,065 Other operating revenues: -	Operating revenues:						
Other operating revenues: - - Cafeteria food sales 486 477 388 444 511 Other revenue 1,055 129 145 104 3,307 Total operating revenues 85,620 69,868 80,181 84,201 98,883 Operating expenses: - - 746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,389 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses: 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss	Net patient service revenue (net of contractual adjustment	nts and	ł				
Cafeteria food sales 486 477 388 444 511 Other revenue 1,055 129 145 104 3,307 Total operating revenues 85,620 69,868 80,181 84,201 98,883 Operating expenses: 84,601 98,683 66,417 30,367 Administrative support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Professional support 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administrative support 1,884 2,993 1,213 2,780 3,091 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,993 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating revenues (expenses): 127 85,58 6,165 <td></td> <td>\$</td> <td>84,078</td> <td>69,262</td> <td>79,649</td> <td>83,653</td> <td>95,065</td>		\$	84,078	69,262	79,649	83,653	95,065
Other revenue 1,055 129 145 104 3,307 Total operating revenues 85,620 69,868 80,181 84,201 98,883 Operating expenses: 49,379 49,655 50,798 51,153 61,516 Professional support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 89,595 Depreciation 4,389 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,221 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,991 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses): 1103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss 127 152 208	Other operating revenues:					-	-
Total operating revenues 85,620 69,868 80,181 84,201 98,883 Operating expenses: Nursing 49,379 49,655 50,798 51,153 61,516 Professional support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses): 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 127 152	Cafeteria food sales		486	477	388	444	511
Operating expenses: Variang 49,379 49,655 50,798 51,153 61,516 Professional support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165	Other revenue		1,055	129	145	104	3,307
Nursing 49,379 49,655 50,798 51,153 61,516 Professional support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 6,165 7,672 3,411 2	Total operating revenues	_	85,620	69,868	80,181	84,201	98,883
Professional support 24,746 24,098 23,686 26,417 30,367 Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 1 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 235 263 235 Federal grants and penalties (1,387)	Operating expenses:						
Administrative support 13,055 12,931 12,950 12,551 13,589 Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 2,055 2,355 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540)	Nursing		49,379	49,655	50,798	51,153	61,516
Fiscal services 6,959 6,829 7,294 8,379 8,959 Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset -<	Professional support		24,746	24,098	23,686	26,417	30,367
Depreciation 4,399 4,424 4,350 4,628 5,121 Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 <td>Administrative support</td> <td></td> <td>13,055</td> <td>12,931</td> <td>12,950</td> <td>12,551</td> <td>13,589</td>	Administrative support		13,055	12,931	12,950	12,551	13,589
Administration 1,884 2,859 3,021 3,465 4,560 Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,22	Fiscal services		6,959	6,829	7,294	8,379	8,959
Retiree healthcare costs 1,939 1,991 2,013 2,780 3,091 Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,06	Depreciation		4,399	4,424	4,350	4,628	5,121
Medical staff 1,137 852 580 669 930 Total operating expenses 103,499 103,639 104,693 110,042 128,132 Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions:	Administration		1,884	2,859	3,021	3,465	4,560
Total operating expenses103,499103,639104,693110,042128,132Operating loss(17,879)(33,771)(24,511)(25,841)(29,249)Nonoperating revenues (expenses):19,3269,31521,50919,94467,453Federal grants4,5856,1657,6723,4112,805Contributions127152208263235Federal program expenditures(399)(236)(257)(292)(94)Interest and penalties(1,387)(2,161)(1,693)(1,948)(1,540)Loss from disposal of fixed asset(118)Others(30)(88)(374)(177)(5)Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)22,22113,14827,06521,20168,736(Loss) income before capital grants and contributions4,342(20,623)2,553(4,641)39,487Capital grants and contributions:1,2715,5252,9371,249529	Retiree healthcare costs		1,939	1,991	2,013	2,780	3,091
Operating loss (17,879) (33,771) (24,511) (25,841) (29,249) Nonoperating revenues (expenses): Transfers from GovGuam 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - (118) (100) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions: 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Medical staff		1,137	852	580	669	930
Nonoperating revenues (expenses): 19,326 9,315 21,509 19,944 67,453 Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions: 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Total operating expenses	_	103,499	103,639	104,693	110,042	128,132
Transfers from GovGuam19,3269,31521,50919,94467,453Federal grants4,5856,1657,6723,4112,805Contributions127152208263235Federal program expenditures(399)(236)(257)(292)(94)Interest and penalties(1,387)(2,161)(1,693)(1,948)(1,540)Loss from disposal of fixed asset(118)Others(30)(88)(374)(177)(5)Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)22,22113,14827,06521,20168,736(Loss) income before capital grants and contributions:4,342(20,623)2,553(4,641)39,487Capital grants and contributions:1,2715,5252,9371,249529	Operating loss	_	(17,879)	(33,771)	(24,511)	(25,841)	(29,249)
Federal grants 4,585 6,165 7,672 3,411 2,805 Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions: 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: -<	Nonoperating revenues (expenses):						
Contributions 127 152 208 263 235 Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: - - - - - - Government of Guam 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Transfers from GovGuam		19,326	9,315	21,509	19,944	67,453
Federal program expenditures (399) (236) (257) (292) (94) Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions: 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Federal grants		4,585	6,165	7,672	3,411	2,805
Interest and penalties (1,387) (2,161) (1,693) (1,948) (1,540) Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: - - - 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Contributions		127	152	208	263	235
Loss from disposal of fixed asset - - - - (118) Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: - - - - - (118) Government of Guam 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Federal program expenditures		(399)	(236)	(257)	(292)	(94)
Others (30) (88) (374) (177) (5) Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Interest and penalties		(1,387)	(2,161)	(1,693)	(1,948)	(1,540)
Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 22,221 13,148 27,065 21,201 68,736 (Loss) income before capital grants and contributions 4,342 (20,623) 2,553 (4,641) 39,487 Capital grants and contributions: 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	Loss from disposal of fixed asset		-	-	-	-	(118)
(Loss) income before capital grants and contributions4,342(20,623)2,553(4,641)39,487Capital grants and contributions: Government of Guam1,2715,5252,9371,249529	Others	_	(30)	(88)	(374)	(177)	(5)
Capital grants and contributions:1,2715,5252,9371,249529	Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)	_	22,221	13,148	27,065	21,201	68,736
Government of Guam 1,271 5,525 2,937 1,249 529	(Loss) income before capital grants and contributions		4,342	(20,623)	2,553	(4,641)	39,487
	Capital grants and contributions:						
Federal grants 2,649 814 16 10 -	Government of Guam		1,271	5,525	2,937	1,249	529
	Federal grants		2,649	814	16	10	-
Others 1,447	Others	_	-		1,447		-
Total capital grants and contributions3,9206,3394,3991,259529	Total capital grants and contributions	_	3,920	6,339	4,399	1,259	529
Change in net position \$ 8,262 (14,285) 6,953 (3,382) 40,016	Change in net position	\$	8,262	(14,285)	6,953	(3,382)	40,016

Appendix J. Historical Schedule of Revenues by Classification

Guam Memorial Hospital Authority (A Component Unit of the Government of Guam)

Schedule of Patient Service Revenues by Patient Classification (\$1,000's) Years Ended September 30

		2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Gross Patient Service Revenue:						
Medicaid patients	\$	23,587	28,507	31,522	35,705	36,646
Medicare patients		32,351	31,660	31,370	36,823	43,992
MIP patients		14,425	11,354	12,023	15,369	12,928
Other patients		46,906	43,730	42,096	42,286	41,695
Self-pay patients		31,033	25,874	26,646	29,216	21,023
	\$	148,302	141,125	143,657	159,400	156,285
Contractual Adjustments and Pro	vision [.]	for Bad Deb	ots:			
Contractual adjustments:						
Medicaid patients	\$	14,627	20,741	19,327	19,924	19,256
Medicare patients		18,654	16,616	16,982	21,153	24,353
MIP patients		8,804	5,938	5,580	6,801	5,476
Other patients		5,155	10,532	4,291	8,273	5,474
Provision for bad debts:						
Self-pay patients		16,984	18,037	17,828	19,596	6,660
	\$	64,224	71,863	64,008	75,747	61,220
Net Patient Service Revenue:						
Medicaid patients	\$	8,960	7,766	12,195	15,781	17,390
Medicare patients		13,697	15,044	14,389	15,670	19,640
MIP patients		5,621	5,416	6,443	8,568	7,452
Other patients		41,751	33,198	37,805	34,014	36,221
Self-pay patients		14,049	7,837	8,818	9,620	14,363
	\$	84,078	69,262	79,649	83,653	95 <i>,</i> 065

GUAM MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY (A Component Unit of the Government of Guam)

Schedule of Contractual Adjustments and Provision for Bad Debts (in 1,000s) Years Ended September 30

		2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016
Contractual Adjustments and Provi	sion for	Bad Debt	s:												
Contractual adjustments:															
Medicaid patients	\$	3,531	4,233	6,846	8,332	8,792	-	9,987	13,380	11,431	14,627	20,741	19,327	19,924	19,256
Medicare patients		9,592	8,948	11,491	7,041	11,343	4,177	13,821	15,875	18,944	18,654	16,616	16,982	21,153	24,353
MIP patients		1,684	-	2,818	3,123	(3,219)	-	6,286	7,325	8 <i>,</i> 530	8,804	5,938	5,580	6,801	5,476
Other patients		2,611	3,031	6,700	7,055	7,970	6,809	7,774	12,492	13,860	5,155	10,532	4,291	8,273	5,474
Provision for bad debts:															
Self-pay patients		15,661	17,468	18,174	18,613	21,091	25,044	12,192	14,139	24,888	16,984	18,037	17,828	19,596	6,660
	\$	33,079	33,680	46,028	44,164	45,977	36,030	50,060	63,210	77,652	64,224	71,863	64,008	75,747	61,220

Appendix L. HMAT Initiatives

On Dec. 2015, Guam Governor Eddie Baza Calvo, asserting his authority under federal law, assumed control of GMH to avert a shut down. In doing so, the Governor established the Hospital Management Advisory Team (HMAT). The HMAT, made up of the government's senior finance, research, planning, management, and technology officials was assigned to examine hospital policy and operations in order to develop recommendations that address challenges and areas of weaknesses both internal and external to GMH. The purpose of this appendix is informational, to illustrate additional government-wide support for GMH, and to show in detail specific initiatives formulated by the team.

Since Dec. 2015, Governor Calvo and HMAT have met with hospital management and staff to examine various aspects of hospital policies and operations inclusive but not limited to billings and collections systems, human resources, physical facilities, procurement, technology systems, medical records, Guam law, hospital policy, and energy use. Governor Calvo, upon the advice and recommendations of HMAT and hospital management, has taken action to: (1) Improve the cash flow situation at the hospital, (2) Enhance operational efficiency and effectiveness, and (3) Strengthen existing or create new policy.

The recommendations by the HMAT are itemized into three areas: Cost Reductions and Containment, Internal Revenue Enhancement Strategies, and External Revenue Generating Strategies. The specific initiatives under each area are outlined as follows:

Cost Reductions and Containment

- 1. Personnel Costs: Reduce Overtime Expense
- 2. Procurement Savings: Group Purchasing Arrangement
- 3. Procurement Savings: Maintaining Credit Status
- 4. Telephone Conversion
- 5. Solar Energy Project
- 6. Facilities Cost Reduction SNU
- 7. Independent Practices for Mid-level Providers
- 8. Document Scanning and Digitization of Medical Records
- 9. Unified System of Care: 'One Guam' Approach

Internal Revenue Enhancement Strategies

- 1. Revocation of 8% discount to third party payers
- 2. Observation Unit
- 3. Centers of Excellence: Outpatient Radiology and Expanded Inpatient
- 4. Centers of Excellence: Cardiac Center Program
- 5. Outpatient and Short Stay Surgeries
- 6. Enrollment Center
- 7. Leasing GMH Space: Skilled Nursing Unit
- 8. Leasing GMH Space: Providing Insurance to Uninsured
- 9. IT Systems Upgrade
- 10. Medicare Adjustment
- 11. TEFRA
- 12. Online Electronic Payment Services
- 13. Endowment Fund
- 14. Modified Acute Bed Capacity

External Revenue Generating Strategies

- 1. Liquid Fuel Tax Increase
- 2. Implementation of a Transportation Fee
- 3. Implementation of a Resort Fee
- 4. Implementation of a Wholesale Surcharge
- 5. Continuation of Health Insurance Provider Fees
- 6. Charging Carriers and/or Utilities for use
- 7. Business Privilege Tax Increase
- 8. Automated Traffic Light Ticketing System
- 9. Medicinal Marijuana
- 10. Real Property Tax Increase

Appendix M. Board of Trustees

Direction and guidance is provided to GMH's senior managers through the hospital's Board of Trustees (BOT) whose members are appointed by the Governor of Guam and confirmed by the Legislature. The BOT appoints the Hospital Administrator. The BOT currently consists of the following members:

Eloy S. Lizama	Chairman
Lillian Perez-Posadas	Vice Chair
Melissa Waibel	Secretary
Sharon Davis	Member
Ricardo M. Terlaje, MD	Member

- Eloy S. Lizama, Board of Trustees Chairman: Eloy S. Lizama, a CPA, is the Controller of the local supermarket chain Payless Markets, Inc. and has held various executive and senior level financial management positions in the private sector since 1991. These include positions at IP&E Holdings, Shell Guam, Inc., E.C. Development, and Deloitte & Touche, LLC (Guam). Additionally, Eloy has prior government service as Chief Auditor for the Office of Public Accountability and Controller for the Guam Department of Education. He has a Bachelor in Business Administration from the University of Guam.
- Sharon Davis, Board of Trustees Member: Sharon Davis is the Vice President for Service at GTA Teleguam LLC –a company she began working with in 2006 as an account manager. Prior to working with GTA, she served in managerial positions in advertising and customer service at the Pacific Daily News, a Gannett Company. Sharon holds a bachelor degree from the University of Nebraska, Omaha. Sharon is Certified Lean Six Sigma Green Belt.
- Lillian Perez-Posadas, Board of Trustees Member: Lillian Perez-Posadas, with over 40 years of experience as a nurse, currently oversees United Airlines health programs on Guam. In 1993, she received her Master of Science in Nursing from Washington State University. Early in her career, Perez-Posadas held nursing positions at U.S. Naval Hospital Guam and the Department of Public Health and Social Services. Additionally, she has served for 29 years at GMH in various nursing positions including serving as Administrator of Hospital Nursing Services. She also served as a faculty member of the University of Guam's College of Nursing.
- **Ricardo M. Terlaje, MD, Board of Trustees Member**: Dr. Ricardo Terlaje is a physician in private practice whose specialty is in family medicine. He also works with SelectCare Insurance overseeing utilization and IHP Health Center as an urgent care physician. He has held previous positions with PMC Isla Health Systems and the GMH emergency room. Dr. Terlaje completed his medical studies with the Autonomous University of Guadalajara.
- Melissa Waibel, Board of Trustees Member: Melissa Y. Waibel is the CEO of Guam Surgicenter, LLC. She also once served as the Administrator of Creekwood Surgery Center in Kansas City, Missouri and served as operating room nurse at various facilities in Missouri and West Virginia. She holds a Bachelor of Science in Nursing.

A member of the Guam Memorial Hospital Volunteers Association sits as a non-voting member of the GMHA Board of Trustees.

Appendix N. Senior Management

GMH senior management team is composed of skilled and competent managers with extensive experience in both government and the community health service industry.

Peter John Camacho	Hospital Administrator/CEO
Dr. Florencio Lizama	GMHA Medical Advisor/DOC Clinic Medical Director
Dr. Vincent Duenas	Associate Administrator for Medical Services
Benita Manglona	Chief Financial Officer
Zennia Pecina	Assistant Administrator of Nursing Services

• Peter John Camacho, Administrator/CEO

Peter John Camacho is on his third appointment as Hospital Administrator/CEO. He received his Bachelor of Arts degree in Philosophy from Marquette University located in Milwaukee in 1981 and his Masters in Public Health focusing on Health Services Administration and Planning from the University of Hawai'i at Mānoa in 1987. He began his government service at GMH and has also worked at the Department of Public Health and Social Services. In the private sector, he has worked with the Guam Coalition Against Sexual Assault and Family Violence and Catholic Social Service.

• Dr. Florencio Lizama, GMHA Medical Advisor/DOC Clinic Medical Director

Dr. Lizama obtained his undergraduate degree in biology at Seattle University and his medical degree from the University of Washington. He moved to Guam and has practiced as a primary care internist since 1989. His clinical practice experience is very diverse, having worked in multi-specialty and solo practices, and in the inpatient and outpatient setting. He has served as Medical Director for an insurance company, focusing on utilization management, and for a Home Healthcare Agency. In 2011, Dr. Lizama was appointed Hospital Medical Director. He has been an active Medical Director addressing both quality healthcare delivery and fiscal sustainability. Dr. Lizama is also a member of the Governor's Fiscal Policy Committee. Dr. Lizama's professional leadership role included serving twice as President of the Guam Medical Society in the 90s and as Hospital Board Vice Chairman in 2006.

• Dr. Vincent Duenas, Associate Administrator – Medical Services

Dr. Vincent A Duenas is an Internal Medicine Specialist. He graduated from Saint Louis University School of Medicine in 1976. Having more than 40 years of diverse experiences, especially in internal medicine, Dr. Duenas affiliates with and cooperates with other community-based physicians, including The Doctors Clinic. Duenas is board certified with the American Board of Internal Medicine.

• Benita Manglona, CFO

Benita Manglona, a Certified Public Accountant (CPA), Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA), and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA). She received her Bachelor of Science, cum laude, in accounting from Saint Mary's College of California and Master of Science in Taxation from Golden Gate University. Having worked for the CNMI government for over 15 years and Government of Guam for over 5 years, she has extensive experience in public financial management, including budgetary matters. In her role in public financial management, she has worked closely with the hospital understanding its financial challenges as it meets its mandate to provide care regardless of the patient's ability to pay. She has over 30 years of tax and accounting experience, having also worked in accounting firms in Guam and California. In 1999, she was listed as

one of the top 100 business people by Guam Business Magazine. She was the former Director of Bureau of Budget and Management Research and Director of Administration until she joined GMH as the Chief Financial Officer in February 2015.

• Zennia C. Pecina, RN, Assistant Administrator of Nursing

Zennia Pecina, a registered nurse with almost 30 years of nursing experience, oversees GMH's nursing division as the hospital's Assistant Administrator of Nursing. She is also an adjunct nursing instructor at the University of Guam. She previously served as a clinical operations manager with the Guam Health Cooperative and held various managerial nursing positions in California, Hawaii, and Guam. Pecina holds a Masters in Nursing Administration from the UCLA School of Nursing and Bachelor of Science in Nursing from the University of Guam.

Appendix O. Organizational Structure



GUAM MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AUTHORITY ORGANIZATIONAL CHART

Rev. 05/2012

Appendix P. GMH Expansion Plan Concept

Summary

The GMHA expansion feasibility study is based on the analysis of existing conditions and facilities needs and provides a projection or "vision" into the future to serve the mission of Guam's only public hospital facility. If adopted by GMHA, the short term and long term expansion plans can guide future facility growth and will set both goals and constraints for future facility development The GMHA expansion plans have to be regarded as a planning guide or framework with both constraints and fiexibility. The constraints have to be recognized so that uncoordinated plans and/or irreversible damage to long term expansion plans can be mitigated. The flexibility in the planning process is important as it promotes discussions or feedback from healthcare providers, governing agencies and the local community that could further fine tune or enrich the expansion plans. It can accommodate changes in the healthcare standards, changing healthcare needs of the community or unforeseen circumstances or opportunities that may arise during the implementation process.



Long Term GMHA Expansion Plan

GMHA Expansion Feasibility Study

5.10